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Milaha net jumps 8.74%
to QR1.12bn in 2024;
40% dividend declared

ilaha has reported net profit
Mof QR1.12bn in 2024, an 8.74%
jump on an annualised basis.

The company’s board has suggested
40% cash dividend of the par value,
equivalent to QR0.40 per share, repre-
senting a payout ratio of 40% of 2024
net profit.

Earnings per share were QRO0.99
for the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to QR0.91 for the same pe-
riod in 2023.

However, operating revenues re-
ported a 3.4% drop year-on-year to

QR2.84bn for the year ended December
31,2024.

Milaha Maritime and Logistics’ net
profit shot up by QR45mn on a yearly
basis, led by stronger performance
from its container shipping unit from
the deployment of new vessel routes
and services.

Milaha Gas and Petrochem’s net
earnings grew by QR52mn year-on-
year, driven by strong results from its
associate and joint venture companies.

Milaha Offshore’s net profit in-
creased by QR24mn on an annualised

basis, driven by enhanced operating
margins and strong growth in Qatar’s
oil and gas sector.

Milaha Capital’s net earnings de-
creased by QR3mn compared with the
same period in 2023, as an impairment
charge in real estate unit more than off-
set higher investment income.

Milaha Trading’s bottom line shrank
by QR27mn on a yearly basis, mainly
on account of declining sales of heavy
equipment, bunker and related ancil-
lary services, along with a write-down
in the value of associated spare parts.

Milaha’s board has suggested 40% cash dividend of the par value, equivalent to QR0.40 per share, representing a payout ratio

of 40% of 2024 net profit.

Commercial banks’ assets at QR2tn in December 2024: QCB

Qatar’s commercial banks
had assets valued at
QR2.05tn in December

2024, a3.9% increase on an
annualised basis.

This was disclosed by the
Qatar Central Bank in its
social media handle X.

Total domestic credit of the
commercial banks grew by
4.2% year-on-year to QR1.28tn
in December 2024.

The commercial banks’ total
deposits expanded 2.4%

on an annualised basis to
QR826.7bn in the review
period.

Broad money supply (M2) was
however seen easing by 0.6%
year-on-year to QR718.2bn in
December 2024.

Opec+ sticks to oil output policy,
ditches US government data

Reuters
London

Opec+ agreed to stick to its policy of
gradually raising oil output from April on
Monday and removed the US govern-
ment’s Energy Information Administration
from the sources used to monitor its pro-
duction and adherence to supply pacts.
Opec+ and Donald Trump clashed repeat-
edly during his first administration in 2016-
2020 when the US President demanded

it raise production to compensate for the
drop in Iranian supply that resulted from
US sanctions.

Since returning to office in January, Trump
has already called on the Organisation

of the Petroleum Exporting Countries to
bring down prices, saying elevated prices
have helped Russia continue the war in
Ukraine.

Russia’s Deputy Prime Minister Alexander
Novak said the group of ministers from
Opec and allies led by Russia (Opec+)
discussed Trump’s call to raise production,
and agreed Opec+ will start boosting out-
put from April 1in line with previous plans.

An online meeting of the Opec+ group
called the Joint Ministerial Monitor-

ing Committee also changed the list of
consultants and other firms Opec+ uses to
monitor its production, known as second-
ary sources.

“After thorough analysis from the Opec
Secretariat, the Committee replaced
Rystad Energy and the Energy Information
Administration (EIA) with Kpler, OilX, and
ESAI, as part of the secondary sources
used to assess the crude oil production
and conformity,” Opec+ said in a state-
ment.

One Opec+ source said the removal of
EIA data was because the agency was

not communicating on the information
required and that the decision was not
driven by politics. The US government did
not immediately respond to a request for
comment.

Opec+ uses secondary sources to help
monitor its output as a legacy of his-

toric Opec disputes about how much oil
members were pumping and occasion-
ally alters the list. In March 2022, Opec+
dropped the International Energy Agency
as a secondary source.

Qatar’s commercial banks had assets valued at QR2.05tn in December 2024, a 3.9% increase
on an annualised basis, the Qatar Central Bank said on its social media handle X.
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QatarEnergy LNG’s N4 asset has been awarded
by Shell for its exceptional Health, Safety, Secu-
rity, and Environmental (HSSE) and operational
performance in 2024.

This prestigious recognition highlights the
company’s unwavering commitment to main-
taining the highest standards in these critical
areas.

The award was presented by Shell to QatarEn-
ergy LNG in a ceremony attended by Sheikh
Khalid bin Khalifa al-Thani, chief executive
officer of QatarEnergy LNG, along with senior
executives from both companies. This accolade
underscores the significant achievements of
the N4 facility in Ras Laffan.

“The achievements of the N4 facility are a tes-
tament to the strong leadership and unwaver-
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QatarEnergy LNG honoured by
Shell for top performance in 2024
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The prestigious recognition highlights QatarEnergy LNG's unwavering
commitment to maintaining the highest standards in HSSE and operational
performance in 2024

ing commitment of the QatarEnergy LNG team.
This award highlights the importance of our
partnership and our shared goal of achieving
excellence in all aspects of our operations,”
said Cederic Cremers, executive vice-president
for Shell's LNG business.

The award was presented to Sheikh Khalid and
Ahmad Ashkanani, chief executive officer and
onshore operations manager (North) of Qa-
tarEnergy LNG, by Cremers and Rob Maxwell,
managing director and chairman of Qatar Shell
Companies.

QatarEnergy LNG continues to set new stand-
ards in the liquefied natural gas industry. This
recognition from Shell reaffirms QatarEnergy
LNG’s dedication to operational excellence and
itsrole as a leader in the global LNG market.

QFCRA becomes member of
Brussels-based EFOM

By Santhosh V Perumal
Business Reporter

The Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority
(QFCRA) has become a member of the European
Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM),
effective February 2025.

This milestone marks a significant step in its
journey towards excellence and continuous
improvement, QFCRA said in its social media
handle X.

“Joining EFQM aligns with our commitment to
adopting best practices in quality management
and organisational excellence. We look forward
to leveraging the EFQM Model 2025 to enhance
our strategic objectives,” said Fatma Abdulrah-
man al-Meer, chief financial officer and chief
operating officer, QFCRA.

EFQM is a non-profit membership foundation
established in 1989 in Brussels, whose model is a
management framework that supports organisa-
tions in “managing change” and “improving
performance”.

Other members from Qatar include Ashgaal
(Public Works Authority), Ministry of Municipality
and Qatar Rail, according to EFQM website.

“By becoming successful partners, we work side
by side with leaders as they manage cultural
change and transformation to deliver positive
performance and meaningful benefits for all their
key stakeholders,” said Russell Longmuir, chief
executive officer, EFQM.

The refreshed EFQM Model 2025 focuses on the
needs of organisations to create a clear purpose,
foster trust, and understand the benefits of long-
term sustainability.

The strategic nature of the EFQM Model, com-
bined with its focus on operational perform-
ance and a results orientation, makes it the

ideal framework for testing the coherence and
alignment of an organisation’s ambitions for

the future, referenced against its current ways
of working and its responses to challenges and
pain-points.

The foundation had set up a team of experts,
from industry and academia, to develop the
EFQM Excellence Model, a holistic framework
that can be applied to any organisation, regard-
less of size or sector.

Since its inception, the EFQM Model has provided
a blueprint for organisations across and beyond
Europe to develop a culture of improvement and
innovation.

QIIB launches special offer in collaboration with Qatar
Airways Privilege Club; offers 40% additional Avios
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Khalid Abdul Rahman al-Shaibei, Head of
Business Development at QIIB.

QIIB has launched a promotional offer for
its customers in collaboration with Qatar
Airways Privilege Club, allowing customers
to receive an additional 40% Avios when
redeeming their QIIB points.

Customers who redeem their QIIB points
between February 1and 28 will receive a
40% bonus in Avios points as a token of ap-
preciation from the bank for their loyalty.
“Our partnership has been long-standing,
and we have successfully launched numer-
ous joint campaigns that have been well
received by our customers. With this new
campaign, we continue our commitment
to providing our customers with valuable
and rewarding experiences,” said Khalid
Abdul Rahman al-Shaibei, Head of Business
Development at QIIB,

Typically, each QIIB point can be ex-
changed for one Avios point, offering sig-
nificant value to customers. Through this
promotion, customers can increase their
Avios balance and use it to enjoy exclusive
rewards with Qatar Airways Privilege Club.
These include flight redemptions with Qa-

tar Airways, its Oneworld alliance partners,
and other partner airlines, as well as busi-
ness jet charters, Qatar Airways Holidays
packages and shopping.

Al-Shaibei encouraged customers to take
advantage of this exclusive offer, especially
as it comes at an ideal time ahead of Ra-
madan, making it a perfect opportunity to
plan for Eid holiday travel.

“We are committed to ensuring that our
customers receive the best benefits and
rewards because they deserve it. Our

goal is to provide them with an excep-
tional banking experience, offering top-tier
services, products, and loyalty rewards
from QIIB,” he said. He highlighted QIIB
points programme offers customers a rich
and flexible experience, allowing them to
redeem points for Avios, Nojoom (Oore-
doo) points, flight tickets, hotel stays, travel
packages and car rentals.

The bank makes continuous efforts to
expand the programme with new options
that cater to customers’ diverse needs and
aspirations, he added.
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The Qatari Businesswomen
Association (QBWA) has
commemorated its 25th
anniversary with an
in-depth interview with

its chairwoman, Sheikha

Al Anood bint Khalifa

bin Hamad al-Thani. The
interview elaborates

on Sheikha Al Anood’s
views on the association’s
achievementsin the past
two and a half decades, the
role of women in business
and how they have shaped
Qatar business ecosystem,
and what the future holds for
QBWA

Congratulations on the 25th
anniversary of QBWA. How do you
reflect on this milestone?

Sheikha Al Anood: Celebrating this
25-year milestone is an incredible
moment of pride and reflection for
everyone at QBWA. What began as a
visionary initiative has transformed
into a powerful force within Qatar’s
dynamic business ecosystem, driven
by our collective commitment to
empowering women entrepreneurs,
leaders, and professionals.

Looking back over this quarter-cen-
tury, what moves me most is seeing
how generations of remarkable
women have shaped our story. From
the pioneering business leaders who
laid our foundation to the ambitious
young entrepreneurs bringing fresh
perspectives today, each has contrib-
uted to building this extraordinary
legacy. Their stories of determination,
innovation, and success give deeper
meaning to QBWA's mission and fuel
our optimism for the future.

As we mark this milestone, we
celebrate not just our achievements
but the collaborative spirit that has
defined our journey. We look ahead
with a renewed commitment to
expanding opportunities and driving
meaningful change for women in
Qatar’s business landscape.

How would you describe QBWA’s
Jjourney within Qatar’s business
ecosystem over the past 25 years?
Sheikha Al Anood: QBWA's 25-year
journey reflects Qatar’s remarkable
transformation into a dynamic and
diverse economy that actively priori-
tises women’s participation across
all sectors. In alignment with Qatar
National Vision 2030’s human devel-
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opment pillar, we have emerged as a
cornerstone of our nation’s business
landscape, dedicated to providing
women entrepreneurs and profes-
sionals with the resources, networks,
and opportunities they need to thrive
in a competitive environment.

This journey has been marked by sig-
nificant achievements - from hosting
influential global forums to launching
targeted initiatives and building
strong partnerships both locally

and internationally - all capitalising
on Qatar’s economic advancement.
These milestones showcase how
we’ve leveraged the nation’s progres-
sive business environment to create
opportunities for women leaders
across all sectors.

Today, QBWA is not just a platform
for empowerment but also a voice
for progress, advocating for women’s
role in driving Qatar’s economic
growth. This journey reflects resil-
ience, innovation, and a shared vision
of creating a future where women
leaders are integral to the success of
every industry.

How would you describe QBWA’s
role in shaping the business
landscape for women in Qatar?
Sheikha Al Anood: QBWA has been
instrumental in shaping an environ-
ment where women are recognised
as key contributors to Qatar’s
economic development. We've
established comprehensive support
systems that address both the imme-
diate needs and long-term aspira-
tions of women in business. From
providing platforms for networking
and collaboration to delivering
specialised training programmes, we
ensure our members have the tools
they need to succeed.

Our initiatives span crucial areas -
from entrepreneurship development
and leadership training to mentor-
ship programmes that connect
emerging businesswomen with
experienced leaders. We've also
focused on creating opportunities for
knowledge exchange and building
strategic partnerships that open new
doors for women-led businesses.

How did QBWA evolve in supporting
Qatari women’s business
aspirations throughout this long
journey?

Sheikha Al Anood: The evolution
has been remarkable and reflects

the changing dynamics of Qatar’s
economy itself. In our early years, we
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focused primarily on creating basic
networking opportunities and provid-
ing fundamental support for women
entering the business world.

Today, our role has expanded sig-
nificantly to meet the sophisticated
needs of modern businesswomen

in an increasingly digital and global
economy. We have consistently
adapted by focusing on emerging
areas such as digital transformation,
sustainability, and global networking.
We’ve also expanded our initiatives
to include younger women, encour-
aging the next generation to step into
leadership and entrepreneurial roles.
By staying agile and responsive to
these changes, we ensure that QBWA
remains relevant and impactful.

What have been some of QBWA’s
most significant achievements over
the past 25 years?

Sheikha Al Anood: There are so
many moments of pride, but a few
stand out. Our most significant
impact has been building a powerful
community of women leaders who
actively support and elevate each
other, creating a multiplier effect for
women’s economic participation in
Qatar.

Our flagship initiatives, such as ‘100
Qatari Women’ and strategic partner-
ships with global organisations, have
elevated the profile of Qatari women
on the international stage. These
efforts have highlighted the vital
contributions of women to Qatar’s
development and strengthened our
reputation as leaders in women’s
advancement.

Lastly, our focus on mentorship, edu-
cation, and digital transformation has
been crucial. By equipping women
with the skills and tools to succeed

in a rapidly changing world, we’ve
ensured that their contributions to
business and leadership will continue
to grow for generations to come.

QBWA has built impressive
international connections. How
have these benefited Qatari
businesswomen specifically?
Sheikha Al Anood: Our internation-
al engagement strategy has always
been guided by a clear vision: to cre-
ate impactful opportunities for Qatari
women to excel on the global stage.
Through strategic partnerships with
international business associations,
participation in prestigious forums
like the WTO Public Forum, and
hosting international delegations, we

Hosting a meeting with José Manuel Albares, Spanish Minister of Foreign Affairs and his accompanying
delegation, in Doha.

showcase the exceptional capabili-
ties of Qatari businesswomen while
opening doors to new markets and
partnerships.

It has been incredibly rewarding

to witness how our members have
leveraged these connections to build
and expand their global networks.
These connections go far beyond
transactional business relationships,
they are transformative bridges that
position Qatari women as influential
leaders and respected contributors
to the global economy.

Looking ahead, what role do you
see for QBWA in supporting Qatar’s
transition to a knowledge-based
economy?

Sheikha Al Anood: QBWA continues
to play an important role in support-
ing Qatari women’s participation in
economic transformation. Our focus
on digital literacy, innovation, and
sustainable business practices aligns
perfectly with Qatar National Vision
2030’s goals for a knowledge-based
economy. What excites me most is
how our members are embracing this
transition, whether through adopting
new technologies, exploring sustain-
able business models, or investing in
innovation.

We’re also expanding our partner-
ships with technology leaders and
educational institutions to ensure our
members stay ahead of global trends.
Our recent initiatives in artificial intel-
ligence and digital transformation are
just the beginning of what we aim to
achieve.

What opportunities do you see

for the next generation of Qatari
businesswomen?

Sheikha Al Anood: The opportuni-
ties ahead are truly limitless. With
Qatar’s growing focus on innovation,
sustainability, and economic diversifi-
cation, there has never been a better
time for women to pursue their
business ambitions. What particularly
excites me is seeing young women
enter emerging sectors like clean
technology, digital innovation, and
creative industries.

To all women considering a business
career or entrepreneurship journey,

| say: QBWA's doors are open to you.
Our network, resources, and a quar-
ter-century of experience are here to
support your ambitions. When you
join QBWA, you’re becoming part of
a legacy of excellence and a future of
unlimited possibilities.

In 2024, Carnegie Mellon Qatar and the Qatari Businesswomen Association forged a partnership to empower aspiring female entrepreneurs.

QBWA's 25-year journey reflects Qatar’s
dynamic economic transformation

Looking ahead, what are QBWA’s
aspirations for the next 25 years?
Sheikha Al Anood: We aspire to
continue leading with purpose and
making a meaningful impact. We
want to ensure that our programmes
and initiatives reach more Qatari
women across the country, amplify-
ing their opportunities and empower-
ing them to lead in their communities
and industries.

Locally, we aim to deepen our pres-
ence and make a more significant
impact by engaging with diverse
sectors and providing more tailored
support to our members. Interna-
tionally, we're equally committed to
expanding our reach, and to increas-
ing our cross-border collaborations
that bring new ideas, global best
practices, and innovative strategies
to QBWA, enriching our community
with global insights.

Innovation and digital transformation
are at the heart of our strategy. As
the world evolves, we see these tools
as essential in helping our members
adapt and thrive in a rapidly chang-
ing landscape. By encouraging the
adoption of new technologies and
integrating digital solutions into our
programmes, we aim to position
QBWA as a forward-thinking leader in
economic progress.

How will QBWA celebrate this
remarkable anniversary?

Sheikha Al Anood: We have a year-
long lineup of activities and initiatives
planned to mark this special occa-
sion, with a series of events focused
on empowering women in technol-
ogy, sustainability, and leadership.
We will also host a global roadshow
to showcase the achievements of
Qatari women internationally. It will
be a celebration of our journey and
an invitation for everyone to join us
in shaping the future.

This anniversary is not just about
QBWA:; it’s about the collective
journey of women in Qatar and
beyond. It’s a testament to what can
be achieved when we support each
other and believe in the power of
women to transform communities
and economies. | look forward to the
next chapter of QBWA's story, and |
invite everyone to be a part of it.

What value do partnerships bring
to both QBWA’s mission and Qatar’s
business community?

Sheikha Al Anood: The remarkable
progress we've witnessed in women’s

During a welcome reception for a high-level delegation from Rwanda.
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economic participation is a testa-
ment to the collaborative spirit within
Qatar’s business ecosystem. Over
the past 25 years, the support from
Qatar’s business community and
leadership has been instrumental in
creating opportunities for women to
thrive and contribute to our nation’s
development.

Looking ahead, we see tremendous
potential in strengthening these
partnerships. QBWA’s corporate
membership programme offers
organisations an opportunity to be
part of this transformative journey
while accessing valuable network-
ing and growth opportunities. We
welcome organisations to explore
how they can join us in this mission.
The evidence is clear - organisa-
tions that embrace diversity dem-
onstrate greater innovation and
resilience.

We are particularly encouraged by
the growing alignment between
public and private sector initiatives
in supporting women’s economic
participation. By working together,
we can enhance Qatar’s competitive
advantage and contribute to our
shared vision of prosperity. We invite
all stakeholders to join us in shaping
this future.

Any final words?

Sheikha Al Anood: As we reflect

on the incredible journey of Qatari
women and the progress we have
achieved, we owe a profound debt of
gratitude to His Highness the Amir
Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad al-Thani,
His Highness the Father Amir Sheikh
Hamad bin Khalifa al-Thani, and Her
Highness Sheikha Moza bint Nasser
for their unwavering support and
visionary leadership.

Their steadfast commitment to
empowering women has been the
cornerstone of our nation’s progress.
Through their guidance and encour-
agement, Qatari women have been
able to thrive, excel, and contribute
meaningfully to the economic, social,
and cultural development of our
country.

On behalf of the Qatari Business-
women Association and all the
women of Qatar, we extend our
heartfelt gratitude for their continued
belief in the power and potential of
Qatari women. We remain inspired
by their vision and are committed to
honouring their legacy by striving for
excellence and contributing to the
prosperity of our beloved nation.

F

On the sidelines of a meeting with the World Trade Organisation (WTO) director general Dr Ngozi Okonjo
Iweala and her accompanying delegation.
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Notice to the Shareholders of Industries Qatar Q.P.S.C.

We are pleased to invite you to attend the Company’s Ordinary General Assembly Meeting to be held on Tuesday,
25" February 2025 at 3:30 p.m. Doha Time, in Al-Rayyan Ballroom, Sheraton Hotel, Doha. In case a quorum is not
met, a second meeting will be held on Thursday, 6" March 2025 at the same location at 10:00 p.m. Doha Time.

year ended 31 December 2024.
ended 31 December 2024.

2024.

representing 74 % of the nominal share value.

remuneration.

H.E. Mr. Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi
Chairman and Managing Director
Industries Qatar

Agenda of the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting

1. Listen to the H.E. Chairman’s message for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.
2. Approve the Board of Directors’ report on IQ’s operations and financial performance for the financial

3. Listen and approve the Auditor’s Report on IQ’s consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2
4. Discuss and approve IQ’s consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 3.

5. Present and approve 2024 Corporate Governance Report.
6. Approve the Board’s recommendation for a total dividend payment of QR 0.74 per share for 2024,

7. Absolve the Board of Directors from liability for the year ended 31 December 2024 and fix their

8. Appoint the external auditor for the financial year ending 31 December 2025 and approve their fees.

Notes

1. Each shareholder shall have the right to attend the meeting of the General Assembly and shall have a number
of votes that equals the number of shares owned thereby. Resolutions shall be passed by an absolute majority of
shares duly represented therein, without prejudice to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association.

Minors and the interdicted persons shall be represented by their legal guardians.

Any shareholder that is a company may authorize any one person to act as its representative at any meeting of the
General Assembly.

4. Attendance by proxy at the General Assembly meeting is permitted, provided that the proxy is a shareholder and
that the proxy is specific and in writing. A shareholder may not appoint a Board Director to act as his proxy at the
meeting of the General Assembly. Proxy form can be downloaded from the Company’s website: www.iq.com.qa.

5. A shareholder may act as proxy for one or more shareholders of the Company as contemplated under the
Company’s Articles of Association. In all cases, the number of shares held by the proxy in this capacity shall not
exceed (5%) of the Company’s share capital.

6. Instruments appointing authorized persons and proxies must be provided to the Company no less than forty-eight
(48) hours prior to the commencement of the General Assembly.

Introduction

Despite  facing challenging and turbulent
macroeconomic conditions, 1Q has demonstrated
resilience throughout the year. The Group has
remained committed to its core objectives and
strategies, ensuring safe, efficient, and reliable
operations with consistent production levels.
Significant efforts have been made in optimizing
output and costs. Operational excellence, HSE
(Health, Safety, and Environment), cost efficiencies,
and output optimization continue to be central to
the Group’s progress in creating and enhancing
shareholder value.

The Board of Directors is pleased to present a
commendable set of financial and operating results
against the backdrop of a year marked by several
uncertainties and cautious optimism. Product prices
remained relatively softened due to many demand
concerns, including weakening consumer demand
amid higher interest rates, while supply was
impacted by geo-political tensions, and challenging
environment issues. Despite these challenges,
the Group’s operations and financial performance
remained solid, with production reaching 17.1
million MTs with facility reliability of 96% and
availability of 82%. The net profit for the period is
QR 4.5 billion, with an EPS of QR 0.74.

Macroeconomic Review

As the global economy transitioned into 2024, the
tailwind effect of 2023’s macroeconomic conditions
persisted, particularly during first half of the year,
with several key themes evolving. In 2023, the
global economy faced significant challenges,
including high inflation, monetary policy
tightening by many central banks, and geopolitical
tensions. These factors contributed to a volatile
macroeconomic environment, with many regions
experiencing slower growth and persistent supply
chain disruptions.

During the first half of 2024, energy and commodity
prices continued to remain volatile against the
backdrop of differing macroeconomic conditions.
Interest rates, although stabilized, remained
relatively high, affecting consumer demand across
all segments, notably in the petrochemical and
steel segments. Consumers in the petrochemical
segments were impacted by limited borrowing and
spending power due to heightened interest rates and
inflationary pressures, keeping the petrochemical
demand in check. On the other hand, steel demand
remained under pressure due to downturn in the
real estate segment in larger economies like China,
coupled with a slowdown in domestic construction
activities.

In the fertilizer segment, both supply and demand
faced challenges. Demand was lackluster in some
regions due to increased inventory levels resulting
from higher global output. However, favorable
cropping seasons in other regions helped support
prices to some extent. Overall, the prices of
nitrogen-based fertilizers have stabilized to their
long-term averages.

On the supply side, stabilization continued across
segments. Producers benefitted from restoration of
supplies that began in late 2022 and early 2023,
with natural gas and raw materials gradually easing.
Furthermore, relatively stabilized interest rates
during the second half of the year were a key driver
in accelerating operations. Alongside these plant
restorations, new capacity additions, particularly in
the petrochemical segments, were also observed.

Additionally, the global push for sustainability has
led to stricter emission standards and the adoption
of eco-friendly production methods. This required
some producers to consider discontinuing their
legacy facilities and investing in more sustainable
facilities. This dual burden involved absorbing
the remaining costs of legacy facilities while
managing the costs and cash flows associated with
the new investments. In a still tight macroeconomic

Board of Directors Report

environment, funding of new investment remained
a critical challenge for many global operators.

Conditions began to improve somewhat during
the second half the year, driven by the easing of
monetary policies by authorities. Demand within
petrochemical and steel segments showed signs of
gradually recovery. In the petrochemical segment,
consumers availability has improved, while demand
in the steel segment saw some recovery due to
lowered finance costs. Demand for fertilizers have
also stabilized during later part of the year, primarily
due to improved farmer affordability and favorable
cropping seasons in some regions.

Overall, macroeconomic conditions in 2024
reflected a cautious optimism, with several risks
and challenges, including geo-political tension,
financial market volatility, and cost escalations.

Strategic Business Review

Our low-cost operating model, driven by integrated
business synergies, economies of scale and scope,
and operational optimization, has enabled us to
successfully navigate another year of volatile
business environment. Despite macro-economic
uncertainty, we maintained operations across
all our facilities at near full capacity, leading to
commendable operating and financial results.
This was achieved through greater operational
excellence, and by building flexibility and resilience
into operating models.

Our robust global supply chain models have
consistently supported us in delivering resilience
and offering operational flexibility during the
turbulent period characterized by marketing and
logistic uncertainties noted in 2024, especially in
the region. Our marketing partner, QatarEnergy
Marketing, successfully ensured business continuity
with optimum netbacks available in the market by
exploring arbitrage opportunities across various
geographies and leveraging economies of scale to
minimize operating costs. QatarEnergy Marketing,
together with other logistic partners, ensured all
our outputs were shipped efficiently and effectively
to reach the target customers without delays.
Our unwavering commitment to maintaining
a competitive-cost profile ensured operational
stability and played a pivotal role in generating
competitive operating and financial results.

During 2020, Muntajat was operationally integrated
within QatarEnergy. Following the issuance of Law
No. (9) of 2024, QatarEnergy has fully completed
the reorganization and consolidation of Muntajat,
bringing all activities previously performed under
respective agency agreements into the wholly
owned subsidiary, QatarEnergy Marketing.

Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) and Business
Development.

During the financial year 2024, the Group spent QR
3.3 billion in CAPEX. These expenditures primarily
focused on turnaround, reliability, health, safety
and environmental (HSE) projects, along with on-
going investments in the new blue ammonia train
(QAFCO-7) and the PVC project. The capital
expenditure related to QAFCO-7 was QR 1.9
billion, while 1Q added a further QR 178 for the
PVC project. To-date, we have spent QR 2.9 billion
in QAFCO-7, and QR 316 million in PVC project.

For the next five years (2025-2029), the Group’s
planned capital expenditure will be QR 12.6 billion.
This includes the remaining portion related to the
new blue ammonia train (QAFCO-7), amounting to
QR 1.5 billion, and IQ’s share of CAPEX in the new
PVC project, amounting to QR 139 million.

Once QAFCO-7 is commercially launched in
early 2026, the group’s fully owned subsidiary,
QAFCO will revamp the existing ammonia trains
1 and 2. The output from ammonia trains 1 and 2
are expected to feed to urea trans 1 and 2, while
the production of QAFCO-7 (1.2 million tons
per annum (MTPA) will be sold as blue ammonia
in the commercial market in collaboration with

QatarEnergy Renewable Solution (QERS). The
additional volumes produced from ammonia 1 and
2, due to the wider group synergies, will be sold in
the market as grey ammonia.

The Group’s indirect joint venture, QVC’s new
PVC project, is progressing well on its critical
path. The project is expected to be completed by
2025, with investment expected to cost USD 279
million, including owner cost, to produce 350,000
MTs of PVC units. This investment underscores the
Group’s commitment to diversify its downstream
operations and reducing import dependency on
PVC in the State.

In addition to the above, the Group will continue
to invest on its core recurrent CAPEX programs,
which are critically important for improving asset
integrity, operational efficiency, reliability, cost
optimization, capacity de-bottlenecking, HSE
enhancement, environmental sustainability, and
regulatory compliance.

Cost and Operational Optimization

As the group entities operate within highly volatile
and competitive environments and industries, the
Group’s consolidated financial performance and
cash flow generations are linked to and exposed
to market fluctuations, especially to commodity
prices and other macroeconomic variables. Given
the unpredictable and challenging nature of these
macroeconomic variables, maintaining cost and
operational efficiencies is pivotal for the Group’s
financial performance.

In response to such an uncertain macroeconomic
environment, the Group entities continued to focus
on cost and operational optimization strategies,
which are persistently implemented and reviewed
on a regular basis. The Group has multi-disciplinary
cross-functional teams throughout the entire value
chain that continuously review the Group wide
asset’s short-, medium-, and long-term strategies and
advise on appropriate measures to improve financial
and operational performance. These measures
include rationalizing OPEX and CAPEX programs,
adjusting production capacities to improve raw
material yields, and optimizing resources. Such
measures have improved the Group’s variable
and fixed operating cost structures over the years,
leading to improved profitability margins and robust
cash flow generation.

Financial Performance

Considering challenging macroeconomic conditions
underpinned by uncertain demand and relative
excess capacities, the financial performance of
the Group for the year can be considered highly
commendable. Despite subtle demand, the Group’s
ability to produce and sell at level comparable to
the previous year can be attributed to the success
of its low-cost and flexible operating structure.
This resilience in a volatile economic environment
underscores the strength and adaptability embedded
in the Group’s operational and financial strategy.

Revenue: Total proportionate revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to QR 16.8
billion, a marginal decrease of 1 % over last year.
Reported revenue according to IFRS 11 amounted
to QR 12.7 billion, showing an increase of 8 %
versus last year.

This marginal reduction in Group revenue (based
on non-IFRS based proportionate consolidation)
during the current year was mainly attributed to
marginal reduction in blended average realized
selling prices, which decreased by 3% versus last
year, translating into a decrease of QR 0.6 billion in
Group’s net earnings versus last year.

Group’s sales volumes however, marginally
increased by 2% versus last year, primarily driven
by higher volumes across most operating segments
except steel segment. Sales volumes improved
broadly in line with slightly improved production
across most segments, amid challenging market
conditions prevailed mostly throughout the year.

Profits & Margins: Net profit for the year amounted
to QR 4.5 billion, marginally down on last year by
5%, while Group’s EBITDA reached to QR 6.4
billion with an increase of 3% versus last year.
This increase in EBITDA and EBITDA margin
was mainly driven by improved operating costs,
and higher sales volumes that was partially offset
by both lower recurring and non- recurring other
income.

Financial Position and Cash Flows

Despite navigating through a year of uncertainty
and challenges, the Group continued to stand tall
with a resilient financial position while sustaining
stability in its cash flow generation capabilities.

The Group began the year with a total cash and
balance of QR 15.8 billion. During the year the
Group generated total operating cash flows of QR
4.6 billion and invested QR 3.3 billion in capital
expenditure, resulting in a free cash-flows to firm of
QR 1.3 billion. During the year, the Group paid 2023
dividends of QR 4.7 billion and the current year’s
interim dividend of QR 1.9 billion. Accordingly, the
Group incurred a net cash out flow of QR 4.4 billion
during the current year and closed the year with a
total cash and bank balance of QR 11 .4 billion.

Group’s reported total assets and total equity reached
QR 42 .4 billion and QR 37.7 billion, respectively,
as of 31 December 2024. Currently, the Group has
neither short-term nor long-term debt.

Group’s continued strong financial and liquidity
position, together with its robust cashflow
generation, is a testament to its prudent and
consistent asset and financial management policies,
competitive cost position, and efficient operating
asset base. These prudent financial and operating
policies have led to efficient and robust cash flow
generation capabilities, supported by a strong and
reliable operating asset base.

A strong financial and liquidity position is critical
for the Group to safeguard against instability and
market volatilities, while providing support to
ensure a sustainable shareholder value. It also
allows flexibility to opportunistically consider
CAPEX projects and acquisitions to create long-
term shareholder value.

Proposed Dividend Distribution

A total dividend of more than QR 72.5 billion has
been distributed to shareholders since the Group’s
incorporation, with a payout ratio of more than 68%.
This is clear evidence of the Board’s commitment
to consistently maximizing shareholder value
while ensuring robust yields while maintaining
appropriate liquidity for the current and future
capital projects and unexpected adversities.

With these considerations, coupled with a
macroeconomic forecast linked to business outlook,
future growth strategies, and capital expenditure
requirements, the Board of Directors proposes a
2H-2024 dividend distribution of QR 2.6 billion
(equating to QR 0.43 per share), bringing the total
annual dividend distribution for the year ended
31 December 2024 of QR 4.5 billion, equivalent
to a payout of QR 0.74 per share for the full year,
subject to necessary approval in the Annual General
Assembly Meeting.

Conclusion

The Board of Directors is grateful to His Highness
the Amir Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al Thani for
his wise leadership and unwavering support and
guidance to Qatar’s energy sector.

The Board of Directors also expresses its profound
gratitude to H.E. Mr. Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi,
Minister of State for Energy Affairs, Chairman of the
Board of Directors and Managing Director, for his
vision and wise leadership. Additionally, we extend
our thanks to the senior management of the Group
companies for their hard work, commitment, and
dedication. We are also thankful to our privileged
shareholders for their ongoing support and trust.

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIALS, PLEASE VISIT WWW.IQ.COM.QA OR EMAIL US AT: IQ@QATARENERGY.QA OR CALL US AT: +974 4013 2080




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of
Industries Qatar Q.P.S.C.
Doha

Qatar

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Industries Qatar
Q.PS.C. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’),

which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive

income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory information,
as set out on pages 7 to 68.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IFRS Accounting Standards).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the

Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1. Recognition Revenue

See Note 9 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group recognised revenue of QR 12,652
million during the year.

As disclosed in Note 9, the Group’s share of profits
from its joint ventures amounting to QR 1,260
million represents 28% of the Group’s profit for the
year while the total revenue for the year generated
by these joint ventures amounted to QR 4975
million.

Revenue being a key economic indicator of the
Group is significant to the consolidated financial
statements and considering significant time and
resources required to audit the revenue accounts
and inherent risk of material misstatement, we
considered this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in this area included, among

others:

— assessing the design, implementation and
operating
effectiveness of the relevant internal controls over
revenue recognition;

— evaluating the appropriateness of the selection of
accounting policies based on the requirements of
IFRS 15, our understanding of the business and
related industry practice;

— inspecting the agreements with customers on
sample bsis to evaluate that revenue is recognised
in accordance with the terms of the agreement and
the requirements of IFRS 15;

— performing test of details on a sample of
revenue transactions by inspecting respective
invoices, delivery statements and customers’
acknowledgements and other corroborating
evidence;

— comparing on a sample basis, the revenue
transactions recorded before and after the reporting
period with underlying supporting documents to
assess if related revenue is recorded in the correct
accounting period;

— testing journal entries relating to revenue
recognised during the year based on identified risk
criteria; and

— evaluating the adequacy of the financial
statement disclosures, including disclosure of key
assumptions and judgements.

Business Combination - Acquisition of subsidiaries
See Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 5 October 2023, the Group acquired 100%
of the shares in Al Qataria for Production and
Reinforcing Steel W.L.L. for consideration of QR
346 million.

On 09 June 2024, Consolidated Joint Venture
Agreement (CJVA) of Qatar Fuel Additives
Company Limited Q.PJ.S.C (QAFAC) expired
and accordingly, the Group acquired control over
QAFAC with effect from 10 June 2024.

The accounting for these transactions is complex
due to the significant judgements and estimates
that are required to i) evaluate whether these are
business combination and ii) identification and
measurement of the fair value of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed.

Due to the size and complexity of the acquisitions,
we considered this to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in this area included, among

others:

— assessing the Group’s conclusion that the
acquisitions are business combination in line with
relevant accounting standards by inspecting share
sale and purchase agreements and other supporting
documents with the assistance of internal technical
experts;

— involving our own valuation specialists to
support us in challenging the valuations produced
by the Group and the methodology used to
identify the assets and liabilities acquired, in
particular comparing the valuations with our own
expectations based on our knowledge of the client
and experience of the industry in which it operates
and specified external data sources; and

— evaluating the adequacy of the financial statement
disclosures, including disclosures of key

assumptions and judgements.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 8 February 2024.

Other Information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we obtained the report of the Board
of Directors which forms part of the Annual Report, and the remaining sections of the Annual Report are
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date
of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Board of Directors for the consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

»Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

»Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting »timates
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

»Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

»Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal Requirements

As required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015, whose certain provisions were
subsequently amended by Law No. 8 of 2021 (“amended QCCL”), we also report that:

i. We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ii. The Company has maintained proper accounting records and its consolidated financial statements are in
agreement therewith;

iii. We have read the report of the Board of Directors to be included in the Annual Report, and the financial
information contained therein is in agreement with the books and records of the Company.

iv. Furthermore, the physical count of the inventories in Qatar was carried out in accordance with established
principles; and

v. We are not aware of any violations of the applicable provisions of the amended QCCL or the terms of the
Company’s Articles of Association having occurred during the year which might have had a material effect
on the Company’s financial position or performance as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2 February 2025 Gopal Balasubramaniam
Doha KPMG
State of Qatar Qatar Auditors’ Registry Number 251

Licensed by QFMA: External
Auditors’ License No. 120153

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2024 (QR ‘000)

Notes 2024 2023
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 15,522,415 13,229,402
Capital project advances 7A 104,671 175,041
Investments in associates 8 2,081,580 1,810,706
Investments in joint ventures 9 6,222,870 6,782,965
Advances 10 315,544 329,290
Rights-of-use assets 11 336,951 261,844
Other non-current assets 178,109 129,388
Deferred tax asset 23 17,264 -
Total non-current assets 24,779,404 22,718,636
Current assets
Inventories 13 3,364,009 2,833,277
Trade and other receivables 14 3,064,978 2,665,434
Equity securities at FVTPL 12 401,389 421,079
Fixed deposits and other bank balances 6 7,371,600 10,954,185
Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,433,990 3,460,004
Total current assets 17,635,966 20,333,979
Total assets 42,415,370 43,052,615
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 15 6,050,000 6,050,000
Legal reserve 16 327,059 271,942
Other reserves 16 (65,105) (62,265)
Retained earnings 31,437,783 33,699,253
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 37,749,737 39,958,930
Non-controlling interests 35 902,435 17,411
Total equity 38,652,172 39,976,341
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 1 390,797 334,046
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 19 552,225 472,123
Total non-current liabilities 943,022 806,169
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 2,618,788 2,220,044
Lease liabilities 1 64,331 47,738
Income tax payable 23 137,057 2,323
Total current liabilities 2,820,176 2,270,105
Total liabilities 3,763,198 3,076,274
Total equity and liabilities 42,415,370 43,052,615
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on
2 February 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Saad Sherida Al-Kaabi Abdulaziz Mohammed Al Mannai
Chairman and Managing Director Vice Chairman

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIALS, PLEASE VISIT WWW.IQ.COM.QA OR EMAIL US AT: IQ@QATARENERGY.QA OR CALL US AT: +974 4013 2080




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (QR ‘000)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (QR ‘000)

Notes 2024 2023
Revenues 24 12,652,136 11,744,032
Cost of sales 25 (9,810,216) (9,216,464)
Gross profit 2,841,920 2,527,568
General and administrative expenses 28 (761,081) (739,813)
Selling and distribution expenses (89,646) (79,483)
Share of net results of investment in joint ventures 9 1,259,966 1,359,961
Share of net results of investment in associates 8 345,509 281,636
Income from other investments 27 708,639 832,080
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 - 550,000
Reversal of impairment of investments in associates 8 60,000
Finance cost (29,857) (28,528)
Other income - net 26 325,946 (38,984)
Profit before tax 4,601,396 4,724,437
Income tax 23 (41,837) (1,648)

Profit for the year 4,559,559

4,722,789

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests 35

4,490,293
69,266

4,720,139
2,650

4,559,559

4,722,789

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR per share) 22 0.74

0.78

Equity
attributable Non-
Share Legal Other Retained to owners of controlling

Note capital reserve reserves earnings the Company interests  Total equity
At 1 January 2023 6,050,000 271,059 (57,884) 35,739,722 42,002,897 16,651 42,019,548
Profit for the year ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ 4,720,1351 ‘ 4,720,139‘ ‘ 2,65(3‘ ‘ 4,722,789}
Other comprehensive loss for the year 4 4 (4,381) (4,381) (4,381)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the - - (4,381) 4,720,139 4,715,758 2,650 4,718,408
year
Social and sports contribution fund provision 17 - - - (108,836) (108,836) - (108,836)
Social and sports contribution refund - - - 4111 4,111 - 4,111
Transfer to legal reserve 16 - 883 - (883) - - -
Transaction with owners of the Company:
Dividends - (6,655,000) (6,655,000) (1,890) (6,656,890)
At 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 6,050,000 271,942 (62,265) 33,699,253 39,958,930 17,411 39,976,341
Profit for the year ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ 4,490,293 4,490,293‘ ‘ 69,266 4,559,559‘
Other comprehensive loss for the year 4 E (2,840) (2,840) (2,840)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the - - (2,840) 4,490,293 4,487,453 69,266 4,556,719
year
Acquisition of a subsidiary with NCI 31 - - - - - 817,708 817,708
Social and sports contribution fund provision 17 - - - (102,146) (102,146) - (102,146)
Transfer to legal reserve 16 - 55,117 - (55,117) - - -
Transaction with owners of the Company:
Dividends - - - (6,594,500) (6,594,500) (1,950) (6,596,450)
At 31 December 2024 6,050,000 327,059 (65,105) 31,437,783 37,749,737 902,435 38,652,172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

(All amounts are in QR ‘000,

1. Legal status and principal activities

Qatar Q.P.S.C. (the “Company” or “IQ") is a Qatari Public Shareho\dmg Company, incorporated in

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

or the year ended 31 December 2024 (QR ‘000)

Notes 2024

Profit for the year 4,559,559
Other comprehensive income / (loss)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefits obligation in subsidiaries 19
Remeasurement of defined benefits obligation in joint ventures 9

(5,749)
(6,575)

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 8 9,484

2023

4,722,789

(1,752)
(2,912)

283

Other comprehensive loss for the year (2,840)

(4,381)

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,556,719

4,718,408

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests 35

4,487,453
69,266

4,715,758
2,650

4,556,719

4,718,408

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024(QR ‘000)

Notes 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 4,559,559 4,722,789
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 1,512,414 1,445,327
Amortization of other non-current assets 26,960 17,802
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 52,397 40,433
Impairment loss reversed during the year (610,000)
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 71,885 68,109
Share of net results of investment in joint ventures 9 (1,259,966) (1,359,961)
Share of net results of investment in associates 8 (345,509) (281,636)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 15,843 1,182
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 27 (22,017) (19,149)
Reversal of ECL on trade and other receivables 97)
Bargain purchase gain 26 (111,481) -
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest 26 (32,194) -
Unrealised loss / (gain) from financial assets at FVTPL 26 19,690 (23,961)
Finance costs 29,857 28,528
Reversal of provision for obsolete inventory 13 (8,896)
Reversal of provision on financial guarantee 26 (142,659)
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories 13 28,787 5,541
Income tax expense 23 41,837 1,648
Interest income 27 (686,622) (812,931)
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 3,758,781 3,214,728
Changes in working capital
Inventories (350,272) 274,983
Trade and other receivables 357,113 837,486
Trade and other payables 195,711 180,557
Cash generated from operations 3,961,333 4,507,754
Payments of end of service benefits 19 (58,320) (69,940)
Payments of income tax 23 (3,746) (115)

Social and sports contribution fund paid (108,836)

(206,654)

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,790,431

4,231,045

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment

Additions to property, plant and equipment

Movement in other non-current assets

Dividend and tax benefit payments received from associates 8
Net cash inflow / (outflow) on acquisition of subsidiaries

Advance to related party

Dividends received from financial assets at FVTPL

595
(2,752,022)
(2,617)
275,612
478288
(177,747)
22,017

Dividends and tax benefits received from joint ventures 9 916,490
Advances to an associate

Movement in fixed deposits and other bank balances 6 3,582,585
Interest received 515,187

28
(2,214,405)

421,273
(345,080)
(102,735)

19,149
1,670,643
(191,493)

(3,665,983)

792,125

Net cash from / (used in) investing activities 2,858,388

(3,616,478)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid related to lease liability
Repayment of principal related to lease liability
Finance costs paid

Dividends paid (6,596,450

Net cash used in financing activities (6,674,833

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

(26,014)
3,460,004

(6,166,950)
9,626,954

the State of Qatar on 19 April 2003, in with Qatar C * Law No. 5 of 2002, as
replaced by Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law number 11 of 2015, for a 50 year term by resolution No. 33
of 2003 from the Ministry of Commerce and Industry of the State of Qatar. The Company's shares are listed
on the Qatar Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is situated in Doha, State of Qatar.
QatarEnergy is the controlling shareholder of the Company and QatarEnergy is owned by Supreme Council
for Affairs and of the Gi 1t of State of Qatar, which is the ultimate controlling

1Q, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (together the “Group”) operate in three main distinct
segments: petrochemicals, fertilisers and steel. More information about the Group’s activities is given in Note
32. The structure of the Group, included in these consolidated financial statements is as follows:

unless otherwise specified)

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which Company obtains control and continued to be
consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the g interests. Total p income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to (he non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

y, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and

to bring their policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Al intragroup balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated or reversed in full.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Acquisitions of a business are accounted for using the method. The transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition

Relationship  Country of Percentage
incorporation of holding
2024 2073 Lhere
Qatar Steel Company (Qatari Private N o o
Shareholding Company) (“Qatar Steel”) Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Steel Company FZE (Dubai) Subsidiary UAE 100% 100%
Al Qataria for Production and Reinforcing Steel : o o
W.LL. ("Al Qataria’) Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Fertiliser Company (Qatari Private . o o
Shareholding Company) (“QAFCO” Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Gulf Formaldehyde Company (Qatari Private ) . "
Shareholding Company) (‘GFC") Subsidiary Qatar 70% 70%
Qatar Melamine Company (Qatari Private : o o
Shareholding Company) (QMC) Subsidiary Qatar 100% 100%
Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (Qatari . o _
Private Shareholding Company) (‘QAFAC™) (i)~ Subsidiary Qatar 50%
Qatar Petrochemical Company (QAPCO) Joint venture Qatar Business combination
Q.P.J.S.C (“QAPCO") 80% 80%
Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (Qatari Joint venture Qatar
Private Shareholding Company) (“QAFAC’) (i) - 50%
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. Associate Qatar 50% 50%
SOLB Steel Company (SSC) Associate KSA 40.38% 31.03%
Foulath Holding B.S.C. Associate Bahrain 25% 25%

(i) On 10 June 2024, QAFAC become subsidiary of the Group. Refer Note 31.

Qatar Steel Company (“Qatar Steel”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, and wholly owned by IQ. Qatar Steel is engaged in manufacturing of steel billets and reinforcing bars
for sale in the domestic and export markets.

Qatar Steel Company FZE (Dubai), a fully owned subsidiary of Qatar Steel with limited liability incorporated
in Dubai on 22 July 2003 pursuant to Dubai Law No. 9 of 1992 and implementing the regulations of the Jebel
Ali Free Zone Authority. The principal activities of Qatar Steel Company FZE (UAE) are manufacturing and
selling of steel products.

Al Qataria for Production of Reinforcing Steel W.L.L. (Al-Qataria), a company with limited liability
incorporated in the State of Qatar, and wholly owned by Qatar Steel. Al-Qataria is engaged in the production
of reinforcing steel. The principal activities of Al-Qataria include the production of billets — rebars and trading
of iron. Al Qataria was acquired in 2023, refer Note 31.

Qatar Fertiliser Company (“QAFCO”), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, and wholly owned by IQ. QAFCO is engaged in the production and sale of Urea and Ammonia.

Gulf Formaldehyde Company (GFC), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of
Qatar, whose 70% of shares are owned by QAFCO and 30% of shares are owned by Qatar Industrial
Manufacturing Company (Q.P.S.C.). GFC is engaged in the production and sale of Urea Formaldehyde
Concrete.

Qatar Melamine Company (QMC), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in the State of Qatar,
and wholly owned by QAFCO. QMC is engaged in the production and sale of Melamine. During 2023, based
on an internal review, the Group is considering transferring of the QMC'’s assets to QAFCO through a merger
process. As of 31 December 2024, the merger process is contingent upon further approvals and the fulfilment
of legal and regulatory requirements.

Qatar Fuel Additives Company Limited (QAFAC), a Qatari Private Shareholding Company incorporated in
the State of Qatar, whose 50% of the shares are owned by IQ and 50% shares (effective ownership) are held
by a related party. The principal activities of QAFAC are to construct, own, operate and maintain facilities for
the production, and export of methyl-terti: butyl-ether (MTBE) and methanol.

Qatar Petrochemical Company (QAPCO) Q.P.J.S.C., a Qatari Private Joint Shareholding Company

related costs are generally recognised in profit of loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
values, except that:

. Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognized and measured under the Group's accounting policies; and

o Assets (or disposal group) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle holders to a proportionate share of
the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation is initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of the measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration (ransferred by the Group in a business comblnatlon mc\udes assets or liabilities
resulting from a il it, the i is at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration trans’erred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the oommgent consnderanon that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted r with against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are those adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not measured at subsequent reporting dates and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial for a business is by the end of the financial reporting period in

incorporated in the State of Qatar, is a joint venture between 1Q (80%) and Total Energies P
France S.A. (20%). QAPCO is engaged in the production and sale of ethylene, polyethylene, hexane and other
petrochemical products.

Foulath Holding B.S.C. is a Bahraini Closed Joint Stock Company (owned through Qatar Steel) incorporated
on 26 June 2008 in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Foulath Holding B.S.C. is a holding company for a group of
commercialfindustrial companies that are engaged in the manufacture and sale of various steel products.

SOLB Steel Company (SOLB) is a company (owned through Qatar Steel) incorporated in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia and is engaged in the manufacture and sale of steel products.

Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. (Q-COAT) is a limited liability company (owned through Qatar Steel)
incorporated in Qatar involved in the production of epoxy resin coated bars. Q-COAT is managed by the Group
in accordance with a management service agreement.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 February 2025.

2. Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
as issued by tandards Board (IFRS

2.2 Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis except for certain assets
acquired in a business combination and assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair
value.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as
possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in
the valuation techniques as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Leve! 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets of
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

- Leve! 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals (QR), which is the Company's
functional currency. All the financial i in this financial has been
rounded off to nearest thousands (QR ‘000) except where otherwise indicated.

24 New i and

adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the changes required as per the adoption of the
new standards, and interpl ons.

New i and issued and effective

The Group has applied the following amendments and interpretations for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2024.

Effective from 1 January 2024 | e Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendmenrs to IAS 1
o Classification of Liabilities as Current or N - to

which the occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting
is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the ‘measurement period’, or additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect the information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amount recognised at that date.

3.2 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

Equity method of accounting

The Group accounts for its investments in associates and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received from equity accounted investees are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equlty -accounted lnvestment equals or exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other is neither planned nor
expected to happen in foreseeable lulure the Group does not recogmse further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its equity accounted investees are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. For presentation purpose, the Group has elected to eliminate
the unrealised gains from the carrying value of its investment in joint ventures and share of profits from its
investment in joint ventures. L losses are also unless the provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate / joint venture or when the investment is classified as held for sale. In case of disposal, the difference
between carrying amount of the associate / joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group changes its ownership interest in an associate / joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group does not remeasure the existing interest. In case of acquisition of additional
interest, purchase consideration is compared with net assets acquired; any excess of purchase consideration
over net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill (included within carrying value of associate / joint venture),
while any excess of net assets acquired over purchase consideration is recognised in profit or loss as part of
share of profit from associate / joint venture. In case of decrease in interest while equity method continues to
be applied, difference between sale consideration and net assets as of the date of dilution is recognised in
profit or loss as part of share of associate / joint venture.

3.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Managing
Director (“MD”) who is lhe chief operating decision maker of the Group. The MD is responsible for allocating

and of the operating segments. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 32, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the
measurement basis of segment information.

3.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the received or recei , and amounts

IAS 1
® Lease Liability in a Safe and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16
® Supplier Finance - its to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.

The application of these amendments had no material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

to i not yet effective, but available for early adoption

A number of new accounting standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 January
2024 and earlier application is permitted. However, the Group has not early adopted the following new or
amended accounting standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements

A.IFRS 18 ion and in Financial

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new standard introduces the following key new requirements.

« Entities are required to classify all income and into five in the of profit or loss,
namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax categories. Entities are
also required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal. Entities’ net profit will not change.

. t-defined
statements.

(MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the financial

1in the financial

+ Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group i

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the statement
of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to the
structure of the Group’s statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures
required for MPMs. The Group is also assessing the impact on how information is grouped in the financial
statements, including for items currently labelled as ‘other’.

B. Other accounting standards

The following new and amended accounting standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Effective for the year i 1| e Lack of ility — to JAS 21
January 2025
Effective for the year begi 1

January 2026

* Ci and of Financial -
Amendments to JFRS 9 and IFRS 7

® Annual improvements to IFRS Standard — Volume 11

JFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 19 without Public Di:

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to IFRS 10 and /AS 28

Effective for the year beginning 1
January 2027

‘Avarlable for optional adoption /

effective date deferred indefinitely

Managemen( anticipates that these to accounting will be adopted in the Group's

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5 3,433,990

3,460,004

Non-cash transactions:

The following non-cash activities are entered into by the Group and are not reflected in the consolidated

statement of cash flows:

o The Group recognized additional right of use assets and lease liabilities amounting to QR 127.5 million

(2023: QR 91.12 million).

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIA

financial as and when they are applicable and adoption of these amendments to
accounting standards is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group in the period of initial application.

3. Material accounting policies

3.1 Basis of idation and

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Group:

. has the power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

for goods supplied, stated net of rebates, trade allowances, returns, freight and amounts collected
on behalf of third parties including value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Sale of steel products

The Group manufactures and sells a range of steel products and by-products. Sales of goods are recognised
when the Group has delivered products to the customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel and
price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products.

Delivery does not occur until the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either of the following has been satisfied
i) the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, ii) the acceptance provisions
have lapsed or iii) the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from sales is measured based on the price specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated
volume discounts and returns at the time of sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for
the discounts and returns. The volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases. No
element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30 to 90 days.

Sales of and fertiliser

The Group manufactures and sells a range of products and by-products which includes Urea,
Ammonia, Melamine, Methanol, MTBE, and Pentane. Sales of goods are recognised when the Group has
delivered products to the customer and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Terms of delivery to customers are specified in the offtake requirements for
regulated products. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the
consideration due or possible return of goods.

3.5 Leases
The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

The Group a right-of- asset and a lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office
furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

«  Fixed lease (including fixex less any lease incentives receivable;
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

«  The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

o The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The lease liability is the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease

b
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

e The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

«  Thelease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).
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. A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a sep line in the cor statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “General and administrative
expenses” in profit or loss.

The Group does not act as a lessor.
3.6 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to allocate the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis
commencing when the assets become ready for their intended use. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The Group's estimated useful lives on each asset classification are as follows:

Buildings 13 - 25 years or land lease term, whichever is shorter
Plant machinery and equipment 3 - 25 years
Furniture and other equipment 3-10 years

Items in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet
determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such items
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other
subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of
property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as the expense is incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised.

Capital work-in-progress (including capital advance) is initially recognised at cost, which includes cost of
materials, direct labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for
its intended use. Following the initial recognition; capital work-in-progress is carried at cost less impairment
losses — if any. Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated or amortized.

Capital work-in-progress will be transferred to respective classes of property, plant and equipment when the
asset is ready for use as intended by the management

3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Non- financial assets
that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows, which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
Groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

3.9 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are those expenses incurred in
bringing each product to its present location and condition, as follows:

. Warehouse inventory - purchase cost after deducting rebates and discounts, on a moving weighted average basis.

. Work-in-progress and finished product inventories - production costs on a moving weighted average
basis. The production costs include the cost of direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
allocation of overheads allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and that to be incurred to make the sale.

3.10 Catalysts

Catalysts are classified as other non-current assets and initially recorded at cost. Subsequently, they are
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment in value. Catalysts are amortised over
the estimated useful lives of 1 to 12 years. Catalysts not in use at the plant are kept under inventories and
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

3.11 Fair value measurement

For measurement and disclosure purposes, the Group determines the fair value of an asset or liability at initial
measurement or at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use
of unobservable inputs Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on the basis as explained above, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 2; leasing transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 16 for current year and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value, but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting date.

3.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability
is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments designated at amortised cost
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

« the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL. Specifically:

. Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

. Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The
Group has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables as well as on financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(1) The financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(2) The borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(3) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(ii)  Definition of default

The Group employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of probability of
default (“PD") of exposures with the passage of time. This analysis includes the identification for any changes
in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors across various geographies of the Group.

(iii)y ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continueds to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continueds to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not designated as FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.13 Employee benefits
Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating annual and sick leaves
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
included in trade and other payables.

Post-employment benefits
The Group operates defined contribution and defined benefit retirement plans.
a.) Defined contribution pension plan

Group has a defined contribution plan for the Qatari (who joined Group on or after 6 March 2003) and other
GCC national employees. In case of Qatari employee, Group contributes as pension, 14% of salary (Basic
Salary + Social Allowance + Housing Allowance) on behalf of the employee and employee contributes 7% and
therefore 21% is remitted to Government Pension Fund as per requirements of Social Insurance Law No 1 of
2022 (amending Law No. 24 of 2002 pertaining to Retirement and Pensions). In case of other GCC nationals,
Group and other GCC employees contribute at specified rates which are then remitted to Government pension
fund. Under this Law and Group’s policy, Group does not have any legal or constructive obligation to pay future
pension to those employees and hence Group 's obligations are limited to its contributions paid to respective
Government’s Pension Fund which are expensed when due.

b.) Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. In accordance with Qatar Labour
Law number 14 of 2004, the Group makes payments to non-Qatari employees on their retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. This benefit was amended
to also include Qatari employees who have completed 20 years’ service.

For subsidiaries and associates located outside the State of Qatar, the Group follows the applicable laws and
regulations in their countries.

For Qatari employees who retired prior to 2003, the Group pays pension to them in accordance with
QatarEnergy pension scheme. These payments meet the definition of a defined benefit scheme under IAS 19
and are therefore accounted accordingly.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of end of service benefits and defined
benefit pension plans should be the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. When no deep
market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognised, when material, in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They
are included in retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in the statement of
financial position, if any.

Other short-term employees’ benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be measured reliably.

3.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

3.15 Income tax

Income tax is provided in accordance with the Qatar Income Tax Regulations. Current tax comprises the
expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax
payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if
any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

In 2020, management received a signed Memorandum of Understanding ("hereby referred to as the MOU")
between QatarEnergy, General Tax Authority and Ministry of Finance. The MOU covers the tax reporting and
payment implications applicable to the components of certain companies listed on Qatar Exchange.

In determination of the Group's tax liability, the probability that the tax authority will accept certain tax
treatments has been considered. Where it has been concluded that it is probable that the tax authority will
accept such tax treatments the Group has determined the tax liability consistently with the tax treatments
used or planned to be used in its income tax filings.

3.16 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Under this
method, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference and the
carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilised. A tax rate range of 10-35%, which is applicable to the
Group, is used to measure deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow deferred tax asset to be recovered.

3.17 Social and sports contribution fund

The Group makes contributions equivalents to 2.5% of the of the adjusted consolidated net profit relating to
Qatar operations for the year into a state social and sports contribution fund for the support of social and sports
activities. This is presented in the statement of changes of equity as appropriation of profit in accordance with
Law No. 13 of 2008.

3.18 Dividends distribution

Liabilities for dividend distributions are recognised for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the Group, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period. Dividend distribution liabilities are recognised as a direct charge
to retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, with any unpaid amount is presented
under trade and other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.19 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

. the profit or loss attributable to ordinary owners of the Group

. by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for

bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account the effect of any dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3.20 Events after the reporting date

The consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the reporting date
and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue, provided they give evidence
of conditions that existed at the reporting date. Any post year-end events that are non-adjusting are disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements when material.

4.  Critical j

ts and key of uncertainty

4.1 Critical judgments and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. Future events
may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effects of any
change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the consolidated financial statements:

Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations (“POs”)

Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, the Group considers the general requirements of control
(i.e. direct the use of asset and obtain substantially all benefits) and the following non-exhaustive list of
indicators of transfer of control:

. Entity has present right to payment

. Customer has legal title

. Entity has transferred physical possession

. Customer has risk and rewards of ownership
. Customer has accepted the asset

In making their judgement, the management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue set
outin IFRS 15 and, in particular, whether the Group had transferred control of the goods to the customer.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model
test. The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting
all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance
measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the
managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand
the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for
which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate
whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those
assets.

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or
stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether
the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Determining the iease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continued as a going concern
and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continued in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continued a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements are prepared
on a going concern basis.

Classification of Qatar Metals Coating Company WLL as an associate

The Group has 50% interest in Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L., with the remaining 50% held by Qatar
Industrial Manufacturing Company Q.P.S.C. The articles of association and shareholder agreement of Qatar
Metals Coating Company W.L.L. requires appointment of equal number of board members by each company
from which the Chairman is selected based on mutual understanding between both shareholders, and the
Chairman has voting casting power; therefore, control is not demonstrated by the entity that does not appoint
the Chairman. The current term of office requires appointment of the Chairman by Qatar Industrial
Manufacturing Company. The Group has assessed that since the Chairman is appointed by Qatar Industrial
Manufacturing Company in the current term, it limits the ability of the Group to exercise control and therefore,
its interest in Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. is recognized as an associate and is accounted for using
equity method in consolidated financial statements as described in Note 3.

Classification of investments as joint ventures

Management evaluated the Group’s interests in QAPCO and concluded that the joint arrangement is a joint
venture where the entity is jointly controlled and the partners have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangements. In this investment, all decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties that collectively control the arrangement, as established contractually in the agreement and articles of
association. Hence, management recognized this investment as investment in joint venture and accordingly
accounted for the investment under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Site restoration obligation
As required by IAS 37, the Group assess whether the following criteria is met to recognise provisions:

. whether the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

. it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; and

. a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

As explained in note 30, the Group may be required under lease agreements to make payments for site
restoration at the option of the lessor. The incurrence of site restoration costs by the Group is contingent to
the option that lessor will exercise, the lessor has not yet notified the Group on this matter. Therefore, the
criteria to recognise provision for restoration obligation has not been met and no provision has been recognised
in these consolidated financial statements.

Income tax

Under the provisions of the Law 24 of 2018, in particular Article 4 (11) of the said law, the tax exemptions does
not apply to the share of profits attributable to companies that are owned, wholly or partly by the State, whether
owned directly or indirectly, and that are engaged in Petroleum Operations or operating in Petrochemical
Industry. Furthermore, Article 2 (12) of the executive regulations accompanying the Tax Law states that the
tax exemption available to companies listed on the capital markets is not applicable to their components.

Management received a signed MOU between QatarEnergy, General Tax Authority and Ministry of Finance.
The MOU covers the tax reporting and payment implications applicable to the components of certain
companies listed on Qatar Exchange.

The MOU also states that the tax amounts due on the share of the public shareholding companies will be
recorded in the books and in the tax returns to be submitted to General Tax Authority. Each company shall
pay the amount of the income tax relating to the share of profit of the public shareholding company directly to
the public shareholding company, and settlement of this amount with the General Tax Authority will be made
through the defined arrangement between the public shareholding company, QatarEnergy and the Ministry of
Finance as per the MOU.

Accordingly, for the purpose of accruing the tax liability for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
management of the component entities of the Group has considered the taxable income of components as
100% taxable.

Management of the Group has recorded the tax benefit or refund received through the settlement mechanism
defined in the MOU within the tax exempted income for that related to subsidiaries and within the share of
results of investments in associates and joint ventures for the benefit related to those Group entities. Deferred
tax has been adjusted accordingly. The payments received by the Group from the joint ventures and associates
relating to the tax benefit are recorded within the investment in those entities.

Management has exercised critical judgement to evaluate open tax assessments, which are included in Note
30(c).

4.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the consolidated
financial position date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within are discussed below.

related to fil ial g
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When measuring the potential liability related to financial guarantees given by the Group to the associate
(“SOLB Steel Company” located in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia) bank for certain facilities extended to the
associate, Management has considered the terms and conditions of the financial guarantees signed with banks
for purpose of providing adequate provision against any breach by the associate. Based on this consideration,
management has used the best estimate towards any exposure that might result for such instance to ensure
an adequate provision is provided in the Group’s consolidated financial statements considering the
requirement of IAS 37.

Di ing of lease pay

The lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Management has
applied judgments and estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement of lease.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and
equipment for calculating depreciation as outlined in Note 3. This estimate is determined after considering the
expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear and technical or commercial obsolescence. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting date, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. At year-end, management assessed that no
changes occurred to these estimates.

in iates - impai

As required by IFRS Accounting Standards, the Group assessed its investments in associates for impairment
(where indicators were identified) by comparing the recoverable amount of investment to its carrying value.
The recoverable amount is estimated by the Group using the “value in use”. The value in use calculations were
done based on the following assumptions:

Discount rates: 11%

Utilization of capacity: 112% to 118%

Earnings Before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA): 14% - 20%

Terminal period growth rate: 3%

Projected cash flows over 5 years

The above assumptions are based on management's best estimate and any change thereof may result in
materially different recoverable amount. Based on this assessment, management did not identify any further
impairment as the value in use exceeded the carrying values of investment in associates.

Pension for retired Qatari employees

The assumptions used in determining the cost for employees’ end of service obligations of retired Qatari
employees include the discount rate, mortality rates, proportion married, spouse’s age and children pension
allowance. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the amount of end of service obligations.

The table below sets out the key assumptions used to assess the provision for end of service benefits:
Assumption 2024 2023

Discount rate 51% 5%
Mortality rates 83.4 years (Male) 86.5 years (Female) 83.6 years (Male) 86.6 years (Female)
Proportion married 90% 90%
Spouse’s age Husband 5 years older than wives Husband 5 years older than wives
Children pension allowance Nil Nil

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This discount rate should be
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the
employees’ end of service obligations.

Provision for end of service benefits for Qatari employees

QatarEnergy has provided guidelines in relation to end of service benefits (‘ESB”) for Qatari nationals as per
the Law No. 14 of 2016. Accordingly, management has concluded that service below the 20-year threshold
does not earn any benefit. Therefore, the service below the 20-year threshold does not create an obligation
for the Group. For the employees who have completed 20 years of services, management has assessed
the obligation and created necessary provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each
other. The Group uses estimates for the computation of loss rates.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the

contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
Cash on hand 173 70
Cash at banks 1,034,296 1,000,516
Short term fixed deposits — less than 90 days 2,399,521 2,459,418
Cash and cash equivalents 3,433,990 3,460,004

6.  Fixed deposits and other bank balances

2024 2023

Fixed deposits (i) 7,282,356 10,849,847
Dividend accounts (i) 89,244 104,338
7,371,600 10,954,185

(i) Fixed deposits are held with banks and denominated mainly in Qatari Riyals and US Dollars with an average
effective interest rate of 5.9% (31 December 2023: 6.5%).

(i) Dividend accounts are restricted bank balances for the amounts deposited in the bank for the dividends
declared which are yet to be collected by the shareholders.

7. Property, plant and equipment

Plant Furniture
machinery and and other Capital work in
Buildings equipment equipment progress Total
Cost
At 1 January 2023 4,604,668 14,732,245 146,280 709,524 20,192,717
Additions - - 2,198,033 2,198,033
Acquisition of subsidiary 244,312 296,759 2,069 - 543,140
Transfers 24,786 658,014 48,136 (730,936) -
Disposals and Write-offs - (1,528) (3,067) - (4,595)
At 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 4,873,766 15,685,490 193,418 2,176,621 22,929,295
Additions 1,850 3,655 215 2,816,772 2,822,392
Acquisition of subsidiary 99,892 3,840,913 86,366 128,997 4,156,168
Transfers 122,832 506,568 44,493 (673,893) -
Disposals and Write-offs (60,913) (584,068) (1,790) - (646,771)
At 31 December 2024 5,037,427 19,452,458 322,702 4,448,497 29,261,084
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
At 1 January 2023 1,427,562 7,078,755 113,176 - 8,619,493
Charge for the year (iv) 238,523 1,176,614 30,190 - 1,445,327
Acquisition of subsidiary 91,884 104,721 1,496 - 198,101
Reversal of impairment (v) - (550,000) - - (550,000)
Adjustments - (9,642) - - (9,642)
Disposals and Write-offs - (331) (3,055) - (3,386)
At 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 1,757,969 7,800,117 141,807 - 9,699,893
Charge for the year (iv) 250,022 1,237,315 25,077 - 1,512,414
Acquisition of subsidiary 65,461 3,005,938 85,297 - 3,156,696
Disposals and Write-offs (60,913) (567,630) (1,791) - (630,334)
At 31 December 2024 2,012,539 11,475,740 250,390 - 13,738,669
Net carrying value:
At 31 December 2024 3,024,888 7,976,718 72,312 4,448,497 15,522,415
At 31 December 2023 3,115,797 7,885,373 51,611 2,176,621 13,229,402
Notes: At 31 December 2024 QAPCO
. _— . . . - " - . . Current assets
(i) Et;lldelggrsogaér;ltya:gcnzlsrdg? the industrial plant, offsite and administrative facilities constructed on land Cash and bank balances 904,791
: Other current assets 1,581,292
(i) Plant, machinery and equipment includes capital spares and other spares with net book value of QR Non-current assets g’égg’g??
531.6 million (2023: QR 380.9 million) with useful lives of between 15 and 25 years. Current liabilities B
. - Financial liabilities (862,955)
(iii) ~ Total cost of fully depreciated assets that are still in use are as follows: Other current liabilities (293,001)
(1,155,956)
2024 2023 Non-current fiabilities
Financial liabilities (80,264)
Buildings 792,708 772,649 Other current liabilities 324,404
Plant, machinery and equipment 4,164,484 3,846,796 (404,668)
Furniture and other equipment 207,589 84,591
5,164,781 4,704,036 Net assets 7,021,770
(iv) Depreciation charge has been allocated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: Group’s share % 80%
Group’s share 5,617,416
2024 2023 Effect of dividend declared by QAPCO but not paid 376,800
Effect of 1Q’s tax benefit and other adjustments 228,654
Cost of sales (Note 25) 1,477,834 1,419,904 Total __ 6,222,870
General and administrative expenses (Note 28) 33,708 24,547 .
Selling expenses 872 876 QAPCO QAFAC Total
1,512,414 1,445,327 Revenues 3,570,650 1,404,000 4,974,650
Other income 82,177 24,635 106,812
(v) In 2020, the Qatar Steel decided to mothball some of the assets and recorded QR 1.2 billion of Depreciation and amortization (498,195) (62,260) (560,455)
impairment against certain production facilities as a result of business model assessment. No additional Interest expense (3,687) (43) (3,730)
impairment of property, plant and equipment was recognised after the initial recognition on such assets. Income tax expense (279,260) (203,570) (482,830)
During 2023, Qatar Steel management decided to restart some of the mothballed assets to cater the Other cost and expenses net of income (2,075,662) (790,143) (2,865,805)
product’s demand which resulted in a net reversal of QR 550 million in last year’s consolidated statement Profit for the year 796,023 372,619 1,168,642
of profit or loss account. The impairment on the remaining mothballed assets is not reversed based on Other comprehensive income 8,219) - (8,219)
management’s assessment on when these assets will resume production. Total comprehensive income 787,804 372,619 1,160,423
7A. Capital project advances Group's share of net profit before tax benefit 636,818 186,310 823,128
Effect of 1Q’s tax benefit 335,053 101,785 436,838
The Group signed an agreement for the construction of QAFCO plant VII (Ammonia VII) project. The project Group's share of net profit 971,871 288,095 _ 1,259,966
is expected to be completed in 2026. Group’s share of other comprehensive income 6,575) - (6,575)
An advance payment for the QAFCO plant VII project amounting to QR 192.37 million was paid in 2022. This * QAFAC balances are for the period of 1 January 2024 to 9 June 2024.
amount is recovered at 14.5% through progress billings and included in the capital work-in-progress. At 31 December 2023 QAPCO QAFAC Total
2024 2023 Current assets
Cash and bank balances 817,444 1,076,125 1,893,569
Att January ) 175,041 192374 | Gyher current assets 1,452.346 600.656 2,053,002
Released to capital work in progress (70,370) (17,333) 2.069 790 1676.781 3.946.571
At 31 December 104,671 175,041 T T T
Non-current assets 6,228,974 1,038,713 7,267,687
8.  Investments in associates Current Jiabilities
Financial liabilities (876,013) (497,731) (1,373,744)
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2024 which are accounted for using the Other current liabilities (190,533) (356,284) (546,817)
equity method. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held " (1,066,546) (854,015) (1,920,561)
directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and /\’_OH-CU_”eﬁf /{6_71_7'/”'95
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held. Financial liabilities (96,788) - (96,788)
Other current liabilities (316,464) (52,682) (369,146)
Place of business/ (413,252) (52,682) (465,934)
country of Percentage of Nature of Measurement
incorporation ip ionshi method Net assets 7,018,966 1,808,797 8,827,763
2024 2023
Group’s share % 80% 50%
Foulath Holding B.S.C. Group’s Shz?re ) ) 5,615,173 904,399 6,519,572
Kingdom of Bahrain 25% 25% Associate  Equity method Effect of IQ’s tax benefit and other adjustments 285,889 (22,496) 263,393
SOLB Steel Company Total 5,901,062 881,903 6,782,965
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 40.38%  31.03% Associate  Equity method
Qatar Metals Coating Revenues 3,270,408 2,723,890 5,994,298
Company W.L.L. State of Qatar 50% 50% Associate  Equity method Other income 112,004 51,221 163,225
Depreciation and amortization (425,366) (89,281) (514,647)
The associates above are private entities with no available quoted price. The carrying amount of each equity- Interest expense (3,994) (207) (4,201)
accounted investment is as follows: Income tax expense (180,261) (311,350) (491,611)
2024 2023 Other cost and expenses net of income (2,083,607) (1,662,857) (3,746,464)
Profit for the year 689,184 711,416 1,400,600
Foulath holding B.S.C. (C) 1,803,583 1,803,558 Other comprehensive income (3,640) - (3,640)
SOLB Steel Company (SOLB) 271,991 - Total comprehensive income 685,544 711,416 1,396,960
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 6,006 7,148
2,081,580 1,810,706 Group’s share of net profit before tax benefit 551,347 355,708 907,055
Th . t of equit ted i tments has ch 4 as follows: Effect of IQ’s tax benefit 297,291 155,615 452,906
e carrying amount of equity-accounted investments has changed as follows: Group's share of net profit 848638 511,323 1,359 961
2024 2023 Group’s share of other comprehensive income (2,912) - (2,912)
At 1 January 1,810,706 1,890,060
Conversion of advances to investment (1) 191,493 - 10 Advances
Share of net results from associates 345,509 281,636 2024 2023
Net share of other comprehensive income 9,484 283
Dividend and tax benefit payments received from associates (275,612) (421,273) SOLB Steel Company (Note 8) - 191,493
Reversal of impairment - 60,000 Investment in Qatar Vinyl Company (QVC) (i) 315,544 137,797
At 31 December 2,081,580 1,810,706 315,544 329,290

(1) In 2023, the Group paid an advance of QR 191.49 million to SOLB to fund its cash requirements with an
objective to settle existing loans obtained by SOLB with financial institutions and get release of financial
guarantee provided by the Group in capacity of a shareholder. Management had paid that advance to fund the
working capital requirements and seize the opportunity of obtaining waiver of loan payable by SOLB to one of
its lenders. This working capital funding helped SOLB settling the loan and resulted in a gain of QR 142.66
million during the year, as the Group reversed the provision for financial guarantee issued by it upon release
of the same from lender. (Note 26).

During the year, these advances were converted into investment as SOLB issued shares against the
outstanding amount. This resulted in increase in shareholding of the Group from 31.03% to 40.38% as the
Group subscribed to more shares than its proportion.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out in the following table
which represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the Group when using the equity method, including
fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policy, if any.

Qatar Metals

Summarised statement of Foulath Holding Coating Company  SOLB Steel Company
fi i iti B.S.C. W.L.L. SSC;

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Current assets 4,095,045 4,378,813 49,673 57,764 300,971 160,978
Non-current assets 5,108,436 5,052,924 7,212 8,090 1,802,448 1,821,803
Current liabilities (1,750,132) (1,869,408) (15,850)  (22,388) (1,505,576) (2,436,650)
Non-current liabiliti (2,474,753) (2,584,610) _ (2,437) (2,608) _ (54,166)  (24,958)
Net assets 4,978,596 4,977,719 38,598 40,858 543,677 _ (478,827)
Group's share in % 25% 25% 50% 50% 40.38%  31.03%
Group’s share in QR 1,244,649 1,244430 19,299 20,429 219,537 _ (148,580)
Impairment and other losses (120,000) _ (120,000) - - (150,796) (150,796)
Goodwill 684,804 684,804 - - 203,250 68,277
Pre-acquisition equity adjustment 660 660 - - - -
Intercompany margin elimination (6,435) (6,435) (13,294)  (13,281) - -
Unrecognized losses - - - - - 232,545
Other adjustments (95) 99 - - - (1,446)
Carrying amount 1,803,583 1,803,558 6,005 7,148 271,991 -
Qatar Metals
Summarised statement of Foulath Holding Coating Company SOLB Steel Company
comprehensive income B.S.C. W.L.L.
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenue 9,428,375 10,274,592 69,642 64,295 489,236 274,454
Profit from continuing
operations 1,054,618 1,117,577 2,714 4,515 1,022,506  (116,488)
Other comprehensive income /
(loss) 37,939 1,132 - - - 1,949
Total comprehensive income 1,092,557 _ 1,118,709 2,714 4,515 1,022,506 (114,539)
Group’s share in profit 263,655 279,394 1,357 2,258 80,498  (36,146)
Intercompany adjustments and
tax benefit - - - (16) - -
Group’s share in profit and tax
benefits 263,655 279,394 1,357 2,242 80,498  (36,751)
Group’s share in other
comprehensive income 9,484 283 - - - 605
Dividend and tax benefit
payments received from
associates (273,112)  (418,773)  (2,500)  (2,500) - -
9. Investments in joint ventures
The movement in investment in joint ventures during the year is as follows:
2024 2023
At 1 January 6,782,965 7,096,559
Share of profits of joint ventures 823,128 907,055
Adjustment related to tax benefit 436,838 452,906
Share of other comprehensive loss (6,575) (2,912)
Dividends and tax benefits received (916,490) (1,670,643)
Transferred to subsidiary (Note 31) (896,996) -
At 31 December 6,222,870 6,782,965

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint ventures is set out in the following table
which represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

i) Advances given to QVC

On 1 March 2022, the Company has entered into a Principles Agreement with QVC and its existing
shareholders to develop, build and operate a Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) manufacturing facility with a total
contract value of USD 239 million. The target completion of the project is expected in June 2025, and the
project is funded by the Company 44.8% and MPHC 55.2% as per the Principles Agreement entered among
the existing shareholders of QVC and the Company.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company has made an advance of QR 315.54 million (2023: QR 137.80 million)
under the Principles Agreement.

As per the Principles Agreement, QAPCO (31.9% shares) and QatarEnergy (12.9% shares) will transfer their
respective shareholding of 31.9% and 12.9% in QVC to the Company for nil consideration on 1 May 2026,
which is the expiry of existing joint venture agreement of QVC.

The Company will recognise the additional investment in its financial statements upon completion of the share
transfer and other legal formalities in this regard and as of that date, the outstanding advances will be
converted into investment in QVC.

11.  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Group as a Lessee

The Group leases several assets including land and buildings, heavy duty equipment, motor vehicles and other
assets. The lease term ranges between 2 — 10 years and 2 — 30 years for land and buildings.

Right-of-use assets

Land and Heavy duty Motor Other Lease
ildi i i assets Total liabilities
At 1 January 2023 167,286 - 2,947 35,139 205,372 386,259
Additions 25,889 63,848 1,380 - 91,117 91,117
Acquisition of subsidiary 5,788 - - - 5,788 6,718
Depreciation expense (27,963) (10,478) (943) (1,049) (40,433) -
Interest expense - - - - - 20,751
Payments - - - - - (123,061)
At 31 December 2023 / 1
January 2024 171,000 53,370 3,384 34,090 261,844 381,784
Additions 86,958 9,249 30,831 466 127,504 127,504
Depreciation expense (32,986) (14,272) (4,095) (1,044) (52,397) -
Interest expense - - - - - 23,716
Payments - - - - - (77,876)
At 31 December 2024 224,972 48,347 30,120 33,512 336,951 455,128
Maturity analysis of contractual cashflows of lease liability is as follows:
2024 2023
Not later than 1 year 87,855 67,875
Later than 1 but not later than 5 years 300,790 267,277
Later than 5 years 257,917 230,440
646,562 565,592
The lease liability is presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as:
2024 2023
Current 64,331 47,738
Non-current 390,797 334,046
455,128 381,784
The depreciation charge has been allocated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows.
2024 2023
Cost of sales (Note 25) 42,584 29,757
Administrative expenses (Note 28) 9,813 10,676
52,397 40,433

The Group does not face significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.

12. Equity securities at FVTPL

2024 2023
At 1 January 421,079 397,118
(Decrease) / increase in fair value (Note 26) (19,690) 23,961
At 31 December 401,389 421,079

The above investments are held in quoted equity instruments and include investment in related parties
amounting to QR 179.99 million (2023: QR 215.41 million).

13. Inventories

2024 2023

Finished goods and goods for resale 1,221,576 972,283
Raw materials 457,246 393,256
Spares and consumables 1,169,714 940,837
Work in process 269,039 274,241
Additives 292,633 261,755
Goods in transit 213,317 221,634
3,623,525 3,064,006

Less: provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories (259,516) (230,729)
3,364,009 2,833,277

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to QR 2,658 million
(2023: QR 2,782 million). These were included in cost of sales.

Net reversal of inventory write down amounted to Nil (2023: net reversal of write down of QR 8.89 million) was
recognised during the year and included in cost of sales.

Movements in the provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventories are as follows:

2024 2023
At 1 January 230,729 234,084
Provision during the year 28,787 5,541
Reversal of provision - (8,896)
At 31 December 259,516 230,729
14. Trade and other receivables
2024 2023
(Re-stated) *
Trade accounts receivable 810,577 743,801
Due from related parties (Note 21(b)) 1,628,019 1,569,274
Advance to suppliers 13,785 8,896
Prepayments 40,245 63,286
Loans to employees 155,390 127,818
Accrued interest 318,499 143,262
Other receivables 156,858 67,492
3,123,373 2,723,829
Less: expected credit losses (58,395) (58,395)
3,064,978 2,665,434

* During the year, the Group has reassessed the classification of related party trade accounts receivables and
concluded that related party trade receivables previously measured at fair value did not meet the requirements
of fair value measurement under IFRS Accounting Standards. Accordingly, related party trade accounts
receivables amounting to QR 622.95 million as of 31 December 2023 have been restated as related party
trade accounts receivables at amortised cost. This correction does not have any other impact on the
consolidated statement of financial position, financial performance, equity or cash flows of the Group.

As at 31 December, the ageing of unimpaired trade accounts receivables is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

Neither
past due
nor 31to 60 61to 90 91to 180 to 365
Total impaired < 30 days days days 180 days days
2024 810,577 635,637 148,141 12,005 14,794 - -
2023 743,801 629,681 87,685 17,726 8,709 - -
Movement in expected credit loss:
2024 2023
At 1 January 58,395 58,492
Reversal during the year - (97)
At 31 December 58,395 58,395
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
15. Share capital
2024 2023
Authorised, issued and paid-up:
6,050,000,000 shares of QR 1 each 6,050,000 6,050,000

16. Reserves

The following table shows the movements in these reserves during the year. A description of the nature and
purpose of each reserve is provided below the table.

Legal Other reserves

reserves (i) (i)  Total reserves
At 1 January 2023 271,059 (57,884) 213,175
Other comprehensive loss - (4,381) (4,381)
Transfer to legal reserve 883 - 883
At 31 December 2023 / 1 January 2024 271,942 (62,265) 209,677
Other comprehensive loss - (2,840) (2,840)
Transfer to legal reserve 55117 - 55,117
At 31 December 2024 327,059 (65,105) 261,954

Notes:

(i)  The transfer of legal reserve is decided by IQ Board in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Articles of Association of the Company provide that prior to recommending any dividend distribution to
the shareholders, the Board shall establish reserves considered by the Board to be necessary or
appropriate. The legal reserve in consolidated financial statements represents the amount of legal
reserve from subsidiaries included for the consolidation purpose and the amount decided by the
Company'’s Board to transfer from the Company’s own profits.

From IQ’s perspective, based on the decision of Board, the Company has transferred to legal reserve
10% of its net profit after deducting dividends and tax benefits from subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures for the year (2023: nil).

(i)  Other reserves comprise of hedging reserve and actuarial gains / (losses) arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions (remeasurements) of the Group’s defined benefit
obligation.

The hedging reserve is used to record the Group’s share of gains or losses on derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges and that are recognised in other comprehensive income of
associates accounted for using the equity method. Amounts are reclassified to consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the associated hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

17. Social and sports contribution fund
In accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008, the Group has made an appropriation of profit of QR 102.15 million
(2023: QR 108.84 million) which is equivalent to 2.5% of the adjusted consolidated net profit relating to Qatar

operations for the year to support the social and sports activities (Note 20).

During the year 2023, the Group received a refund of QR 4.11 million related to the excess social and sports
contribution fund paid for the year 2020 due to the restatement of its consolidated net profit for that year.

18. Dividends

The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend distribution of QR 0.74 per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: QR 0.78 per share).

During the year 2024, the Board of Directors approved an interim cash dividend in respect of the six-month
period ended 30 June 2024 of QR 0.31 per share (30 June 2023: Nil), amounting to a total of QR 1,876 million.

The above proposed final dividend and the interim dividend paid during the year ended 31 December 2024
will be submitted for formal approval in the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2025.

The dividends for the year 2023 amounting to QR 4,719 million were approved by the shareholders in the
Annual General Meeting held on 6 March 2024.

19. Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

The movements in the provision recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2024 2023
At 1 January 472,123 465,977
Interest cost 5,634 6,211
Current service cost 24,301 21,059
Provision during the year 47,584 47,050
Acquisition of subsidiary 55,154 14
Actuarial gains on re-measurement of present value of defined benefits
obligation 5,749 1,752
Paid during the year 58,320 69,940
At 31 December 552,225 472,123

Included in staff costs are the following expenses in connection with the provision for employees’ end of service
benefits.

2024 2023

Current service cost 24,301 21,059

End of service charges 47,585 47,050

Interest cost 5,634 6,211

77,520 74,320

The breakup of the Groups end of service liability is as below,

2024 2023
Pension for retired Qatari employees (a) 124,001 125,694
Provision for end of service benefits for non-Qatari employees 280,319 230,385
Provision for end of service benefits for Qatari employees 147,905 116,044
Total 552,225 472,123

a.  Pension obligations

The Group pays pension benefits to Qatari employees, or their heirs, who retired prior to 2003. The Group’s
obligation to these pension benefits is significant and accordingly, accounted for using the projected unit credit
method.

The assumptions used in determining the cost for employees’ end of service obligations of retired Qatari
employees include the discount rate, mortality rates, proportion married, spouse’s age and children pension
allowance. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the amount of end of service obligations.
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The table below sets out the key assumptions used to assess the provision for end of service benefits:

Assumption 2024 2023
Discount rate 51% 5%
Mortality rates 83.4 years (Male) 86.5 years (Female) 83.6 years (Male) 86.6 years (Female)
Proportion married 90% 90%
Spouse’s age Husband 5 years older than wives Husband 5 years older than wives
Children pension allowance Nil Ni

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This discount rate should be
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the
employees’ end of service obligations.

20. Trade and other payables

2024 2023

Accrued expenses 1,326,435 760,538
Financial guarantees* 257,342 400,000
Due to related parties (Note 21) 489,776 330,014
Trade payables 283,201 438,416
Social and sports contribution fund payable (Note 17) 102,146 108,836
Dividend payable 89,244 104,338
Other payables 70,644 77,902
2,618,788 2,220,044

This represents the provision on financial guarantees given to one of the Group’s associates which was
based on maximum liability of the Group's total exposure. During the year, based on settlement of the loan
by the Group’s associate and related release of guarantee from one of the lenders, the Group has reversed
provision of QR 142.66 million and recognised this as other income (Note 26).

21. Related parties’ disclosures

Related parties, as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: Related Party Disclosures, include
associate companies, major shareholders, directors and other key management personnel of the Group, and
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of
these transactions are approved by the respective management.

a) Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Goods and services provided to refated parties

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Management Management
Sales fees Sales fees
Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 44,861 302 66,819 148
SOLB Steel Company 233,236 838 - -
Entities under common contro}
QatarEnergy Marketing * 8,938,779 - 7,712,447 -
Affiliates
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. 625 - 659 -
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. 113 - 2,206 -
9,217,614 1,140 7,782,131 148

* Pursuant to Law No. 11 of 2012, QatarEnergy Marketing 1 (‘QEM 1’, formerly named as Qatar Chemical and
Petrochemical Marketing and Distribution Company Q.P.J.S.C. (Muntajat)) was established in the year 2012
to carry out marketing and distribution activities of regulated products.

Effective 7 November 2024, Law No. 9 of 2024 (the QEM Law) repealed the above Law No. 11 of 2012. QEM
Law gives effect to the consolidation of marketing activities of regulated products into a single entity named
QatarEnergy Marketing ('QEM’, formerly named as Qatar Petroleum for the Sale of Petroleum Products
Company Limited (QPSPP)). Accordingly, the activities of QEM 1 are integrated into QEM which is ultimately
wholly owned subsidiary of QatarEnergy as of 31 December 2024.

Goods and services from related parties

Year ended 31 December 2024
Parent
QatarEnergy

Joint venture
QAFAC*
QAPCO**

Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L.
SOLB Steel Company

Entities under common control

QatarEnergy Marketing

Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C.
Mesaieed Petrochemical Holding Company
Q.P.S.C.

Qatar Aluminium Manufacturing Company
Q.P.S.C.

Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company
P.J.S.C.

Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C

Affiliates

AMWAJ Catering Services Company
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C.
GASAL Company Q.S.C.

Bahrain Steel B.S.C.

Purchases

4,019,960

14,968 -

63,776 - -
726,740

Dividends Other
Administrative and tax income/
expenses benefits (expenses)

98,383 - 24,391

273,000
1,019,650

(1,196;

139 - - -
23,725

152 240,476 -

(543;
(4,138)
(1,876)

6,282 - -

11,984 - - -

- 1,340 - -
- - (751)
74

4,837,719

346,481 1,292,650 39,686

*QAFAC balances are for the period of 1 January 2024 to 9 June 2024.

* *Tax benefit income from QAPCO also includes the tax benefit income from its underlying entities.

Dividends Other
Administrative and tax income/
Purchases expenses benefits (expenses)
Year ended 31 December 2023
Ultimate parent
QatarEnergy 3,316,935 59,877 - 27,967
Joint venture
QAFAC 32,617 - 376,522 (1,564)
QAPCO ** - - 1,294,226 (3,570)
Associates
Qatar Metals Coating Company W.L.L. 7 - - -
SOLB Steel Company - - - 592
Entities under common control
QatarEnergy Marketing - 251,303 - -
Gulf International Services Q.P.S.C. - - - (530)
Mesaieed Petrochemical Holding Company
Q.P.S.C. - - - (5,270)
Qatar Aluminium Manufacturing Company
Q.P.S.C. - - - (2,915)
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C 11,993 - - -
Affiliates
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. - - - (1,762)
GASAL Company Q.S.C. 64,478 - - 84
Bahrain Steel B.S.C. 37,277 - - -
3,463,307 311,180 1,670,748 13,032
* *Tax benefit income from QAPCO also includes the tax benefit income from its underlying entities.
Nature of Transaction 2024 2023
Affiliates
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. Advance given 315,544 137,796

b) Related party balances:

Due from related parties

2024 2023
Parent
QatarEnergy 7,108 4,424
Joint venture
QAPCO * 391,650 687,306
QAFAC * - 180,308
Associates
SOLB Steel Company 233,911 54,362
Qatar Metal Coating Company W.L.L. 14,568 19,809
Entities under common control
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C 52 -
QatarEnergy Marketing 980,673 622,950
Affiliates
Qatofin Company Limited Q.P.J.S.C. 14 -
Qatar Vinyl Company Limited (QVC) Q.S.C. 43 115
1,628,019 1,569,274
Less: expected credit loss (i) (58,038) (58,038)
1,569,981 1,511,236

* The balance represents dividend and tax benefit related receivables from QAPCO and QAFAC.

Due from related parties are unsecured and non-interest bearing. These are collectible within the Group’s
normal credit term.

(i) Expected credit losses

Expected credit losses amounting to QR 58.04 million (2023: QR 58.04 million) represent impairment charged
against old outstanding receivables from related parties. The management believes that the pattern of
repayment of this balance in the past suggests that it may take considerable time until collected. Therefore,
recovery of any amount in future will be recognised as reversal of impairment provisions.

Due to reiated parties

2024 2023

Parent
QatarEnergy 368,254 284,638
Joint venture
QAFAC - 3,136
QAPCO - 260
Entity under common controi
Gulf Industrial Investment Company - 37,276
Al Koot Insurance and Reinsurance Company P.J.S.C. 3,719 2,130
Qatar Fuel Company Q.P.S.C. 457 8
Affiliates
GASAL Company Q.S.C. 525 2,566
Bahrain Steel B.S.C. 116,821 -

489,776 330,014

Due to related parties are non-interest bearing and payable on demand.
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Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Outstanding balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are unsecured and interest-free. Other than those
mentioned, there have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

Other guarantees with related parties

The Group has provided bank guarantees for one of its associates in respect of their borrowings from external
banks. (Note 20).

Comp ion of key

personne}

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2024 2023

Board of Directors remuneration * 13,760 12,200
Other employment benefits 48,435 43,063
62,195 55,263

* The Company'’s Board of Directors fees accrued for the year 2024 is QR 8.75 million (2023: QR 8.75 million).

The Company has established a remuneration policy for its Board of Directors. This policy is comprised of two
components: a fixed component, and a variable component. The variable component is related to the financial
performance of the Company. The total Directors’ remuneration is within the limit prescribed by the Qatar
Commercial Companies’ Law.

22. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to
Owner of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

2024 2023
Profit for the year 4,559,559 4,722,789
Profit attributable to owners of the Company for basic and diluted
earnings 4,490,293 4,720,139
Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 6,050,000 6,050,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 0.74 0.78

23. Income tax

2024 2023
Current income tax
Current income tax charge 817,810 699,260
Adjustments for prior year income tax 14,791 113
832,601 699,373
Group tax benefit (i) (793,920) (697,725)
Net current tax expense 38,681 1,648
Deferred tax
Relating to temporary differences 3,156 -
Income tax included in the of profit or loss 41,837 1,648

(i)  As per the MOU between the General Tax Authority, QatarEnergy and Ministry of Finance signed on 4
February 2020, the proportion of income tax of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and their components
attributable to the effective shareholding of the public shareholding company shall be settled with the
General Tax Authority by the Ministry of Finance through the defined settlement arrangement between
the public shareholding company, QatarEnergy and the Ministry of Finance.

Reconciliation of tax expense:

2024 2023
Profit before tax 4,601,396 4,724,437
Adjustments for:
Non-taxable income (2,346,223) (2,700,483)
Non-deductible expenses and losses 143,965 140,428
Taxable income 2,399,138 2,164,382
Income tax 820,966 699,260
Adjustments for prior year income tax 14,791 113
Group tax benefit relating to subsidiaries (793,920) (697,725)
Income tax expense 41,837 1,648
Movement of income tax payable is as follow:

2024 2023
At 1 January 2,323 790
Income tax for the year 817,810 699,260
Acquisition of a subsidiary 99,799 -
Adjustments for prior year income tax 14,791 113
Amount paid during the year (3,746) (115)
Group tax benefit relating to subsidiaries (793,920) (697,725)
At 31 December 137,057 2,323
Movement of deferred tax asset is as follow:

2024 2023
At 1 January - -
Acquisition of subsidiary 20,420 -
Deferred tax expense during the year (3,156) -
At 31 December 17,264 -

Global Minimum Tax

Management is closely monitoring developments related to the implementation of the international tax reforms
introducing a global minimum top-up tax.

The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-
up tax and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.

Once changes to the tax laws in any jurisdiction in which the Group operates are enacted or substantively
enacted, the Group may be subject to the top-up tax. Through the issuance of its amended Law No. 11 of
2022 and Law No. 38 of 2024 (approved by the Shura Council on 23 December 2024), the State of Qatar has
committed to introducing a Pillar Two tax establishing a minimum effective tax rate of 15%, but the tax is not
yet enacted or substantively enacted as limited details are contained in the existing legislation. Further
information in relation to the implementation, compliance or administrative provisions related to the global
minimum tax are expected to be issued during 2025 as amendments to the Executive Regulations of the
amended tax law.

The Group is a constituent entity of the QatarEnergy MNE group headquartered in Qatar. The Group mainly
operates in Qatar and has a constituent entity in the UAE. As of 31 December 2024, the UAE also did not
implement the global minimum tax rules.

The Group assessed the likely impact of global minimum tax and expects it to be immaterial.

24. Revenues

2024 2023
Disaggregation of revenue - at a point in time
Bars sales 2,701,720 2,960,476
Billets sales 233,236 271,865
Direct reduced iron (DRI) sales 824,763 746,036
Coil sales 221,762 285,802
Urea sales 6,494,660 6,436,104
Ammonia sales 551,440 808,510
Melamine sales 200,108 235,239
Methanol 383,282 -
Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) 1,041,165 -
12,652,136 11,744,032
25. Cost of sales
2024 2023
Raw materials, utilities and consumables used 6,914,499 6,775,661
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 1,477,834 1,419,904
Employee benefits expenses 787,848 580,412
Repair and maintenance 157,573 136,713
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 42,584 29,757
External Manpower cost 86,030 62,230
Professional and consultancy fee 23,614 12,743
Others 320,234 199,044
9,810,216 9,216,464
26. Other income - net
2024 2023
By-product sales (net) (42,983) (121,305)
Unrealized (loss) / gain on financial assets at FVTPL (Note 12) (19,690) 23,961
Reversal of provision on financial guarantee (Note 20) 142,659 -
Bargain purchase gain (Note 31) 111,481 -
Gain on remeasurement of previously held equity interest in a joint 32,194 -
venture (Note 31)
Others 102,285 58,360
325,946 (38,984)
27. Income from other investments
2024 2023
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL 22,017 19,149
Income on bank deposits — islamic banks 280,977 373,189
Income on bank deposits — other banks 405,645 439,742
708,639 832,080
28. and
2024 2023
Employee benefits expenses 490,420 424,374
Professional and consultancy fee (1) 30,932 59,862
External services 75,914 117,061
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 33,708 24,547
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 9,813 10,676
Rental, utilities and supplies 29,231 46,484
Board of director’s remuneration 13,760 12,200
Travel, transportation and communication 12,725 9,457
QatarEnergy management fees 5,843 7,331
Qatar Stock Exchange fees 2,229 2,223
Others 56,506 25,598
761,081 739,813

(1) This includes auditors’ remuneration of audit of financial statements related fees for an amount of QR 1.14
million (2023: QR 0.96 million) and services other than audit for an amount of QR 0.02 million (2023: nil).

29. Commitments

Significant capital expenditure contracted at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as a liability is
as follows:

2024 2023
Capital commitments from the subsidiaries 2,499,913 5,735,992
Capital commitments — the Group’s share of associates and joint
ventures 399,600 670,185
30. Contingencies
a. Group’s share in contingent liabilities

2024 2023
Letter of credit 15,042 3,302
Bank guarantees 3,086 1,759
Letters of credit — the Group’s share of associates and joint ventures 126,141 141,990
Bank guarantees — the Group’s share of associates and joint ventures 61,253 72,365

The Group anticipates that no material liabilities will arise from the above guarantees and letter of credits,
which are issued in the ordinary course of business other than the QR 257.34 million (2023: QR 400 million)
already recognized (Note 20).

b. Site restoration obligations

The Group entities are parties to land lease agreements with the QatarEnergy, the ultimate parent company,
for the purpose of installing and operating their plants at Mesaieed area. The lease period for the main entities
of the Group are as follows:

Start of the Expiry of the

lease lease

Qatar Steel 2005 2030
QAFCO

Lease 1 2009 2029

Lease 2 2007 2032
QAPCO

Lease 1 2003 2029

Lease 2 2005 2029
QAFAC

Lease 1 2024 2034

Qatar Steel, QAFCO and QAPCO has entered into a land lease agreement with QatarEnergy (“Lessor”) on
which the plant and other facilities have been constructed. Under this agreement, the lessor has the right,
upon termination or expiration of the lease term, to notify the related Company that it requires to either:

« Transfer the facilities to the Lessor or a transferee nominated by the Lessor, against a price acceptable by
the related company, or;

* Remove the facilities and all other property from the land and restore it to the condition in which it was
delivered to the related company, at the Company’s cost, unless otherwise is agreed with the lessor.

QAFAC has entered into a land lease agreement with QatarEnergy (“the Landlord”) on which the plant facilities
have been constructed. This lease agreement expired on 9 June 2024, and is currently being renewed for a
10-year extension. According to the new proposed agreement, the Landlord is entitled in its sole and absolute
discretion to elect that the QAFAC must, at the end of the term of the agreement, either:

« Remove all or part of the relevant Facility and reinstate and return the relevant Property to the Landlord
(the "Reinstatement Option"); or
e Transfer title to and ownership of all or part of the relevant Facility to the Landlord (the "Transfer Option").

In accordance with IAS 37, the Group has assessed whether the following criteria are met for recognizing
provisions:

e The Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event,

e It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and;

* Areliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The incurrence of site restoration costs by the Group is contingent upon which option is selected by the lessor.
The management believes that, since there is no indication from the lessor in respect of the above options,
the criteria to recognize the provision for restoration obligation is not fully met and therefore, the Group has
not recognized the decommissioning liability for the year ended 31 December 2024.

c. Tax related contingencies

The General Tax Authority (‘GTA”) issued income tax assessments to certain components of the Group for
the years from 2012 to 2018, requiring the components to pay additional taxes and penalties of QR 4,800
million (including share of joint ventures and associates) and disallowing some expenses.

The components have submitted formal objections, as per the requirement of the tax law, rejecting the full
amount claimed by the GTA within 30 days.

Management has concluded that it is probable (i.e., it is more likely than not) based on the earlier precedence
that the General Tax Authority will accept the tax treatment in the objection and accordingly has not recorded
a liability for the assessments received or for any potential further amounts which may be assessed in relation
to this matter in the subsequent years.
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Further, as per the terms of the MOU (Note 4), the Ministry of Finance undertakes to settle any income tax
amounts payable by these components for the previous years directly to the GTA. Based on the ongoing
advanced discussions and correspondence between QatarEnergy, on behalf of the Group, the Ministry of
Finance, and the GTA, it is expected that the assessments will either be withdrawn or resolved amicably
between the involved parties.

d. Other contingencies

Other than the above, the Group is involved in certain litigations, however, based on the inputs from internal
legal team, management has concluded that no provision is required to be recognised in these consolidated
financial statements (2023: Nil).

31. Acquisition of subsidiaries
31.1 QAFAC

Principal activities of the QAFAC are to construct, own, operate and maintain facilities for the production,
marketing and export of methyl-tertiary-butyl-ether (MTBE) and methanol. QAFAC is not publicly listed.

During the year, the Consolidated Joint Venture Agreement (CJVA) of QAFAC expired on 9 June 2024. Post
expiry of CJVA, effective 10 June 2024, the Company continues to hold its 50% shareholding interest in
QAFAC. Remaining 50% shareholding in QAFAC held by other shareholders is to be acquired by a related
party with an economic effective date of 10 June 2024, subject to completion of legal formalities. Based on the
proposed arrangement with the related party, the Company has control over QAFAC so that it is exposed to
and has rights to variable returns from its involvement with QAFAC and has the ability to impact those returns
through its controlling shareholding in QAFAC, while the related party is entitled to 50% share of profits due to
its shareholding. Further, management has assessed that the acquired activities and assets of QAFAC are
capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of generating outputs and accordingly, this
acquisition is a business combination for the Company as per IFRS 3. Accordingly, QAFAC has been included
in these consolidated financial statements as a subsidiary with effect from 10 June 2024.

In the period from 10 June 2024 to 31 December 2024, QAFAC contributed revenue of QR 1,442.78 million
and profit before tax of QR 206.97 million to the Group’s results (before allocation to NCI). If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2024, management estimates that consolidated revenue and profit before tax of
the Group for the year 2024 would have been QR 14,056 million and QR 4,889 million respectively.

31.1.1  Consideration transferred

As the Group has acquired control by virtue of expiry of the CJVA, there is no consideration transferred as part
of this business combination.

31.1.2 Acquisitions related cost

The Group has not incurred any acquisition-related costs relating to consultant and external professional fees
during current year.

31.1.3 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

Amount
Property, plant and equipment 999,472
Catalysts and other non-current assets 73,064
Deferred tax assets 20,420
Inventories 209,247
Trade and other receivables 585,222
Cash and cash equivalents 478,288
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (55,154)
Trade and other payables (352,381)
Income tax payable (99,799
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 1,858,379

Fair value

The provisional fair estimated by the management is QR 1,858.38 million. The final fair value will be finalized
within one year from the date of acquisition which is allowed by IFRS 3.

The provisional fair value of the acquired assets was estimated using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method,
an income-based approach. Key assumptions in the DCF analysis included projected cash flows over a 10-
year period and a 10% discount rate to account for the associated risks.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of QR 585.22 million with no expectation to be
uncollectible at the date of acquisition.

Any adjustments to these provisional amounts will be recognized in the consolidated financial statements once
the purchase price allocation is completed.

31.1.4 Remeasurement of existing interest in the joint venture

Based on the provisional fair value, below summarizes the gain on remeasurement of existing interest in the
joint venture, which has been recorded in profit or loss as part of other income (Note 26).

Amount
50% of the fair value of the joint venture as of the date of acquisition 929,190
Carrying value of joint venture as of date of acquisition (Note 9) 896,996
Fair value gain on remeasurement of existing interest in QAFAC 32,194

31.1.5 Non-controlling interest

Post expiry of CJVA, effective 10 June 2024, remaining 50% shareholding in QAFAC held by other
shareholders is to be acquired by related party with economic effective date of 10 June 2024 which is only
entitled to 50% share of profits due to its shareholding. The following table summarizes the information relating
to non-controlling interest (NCI) before any intra-group eliminations at acquisition date:

Amount

Total identifiable net assets acquired at book value 1,635,416
NCI percentage 50%

NCI as of date of acquisition — based on their proportionate share of net assets 817,708
31.1.6 Bargain purchase gain

Amount
Fair value of identifiable net assets 1,858,379
Fair value of investment in QAFAC as of acquisition date (929,190)
NCI as of date of acquisition — based on their proportionate share of net assets (817,708)
Bargain purchase gain (Note 26) 111,481

31.2 Al Qataria

On 5 October 2023, the Group acquired 100% shares and voting rights in Al Qataria for Production of
Reinforcing Steel or "Al Qataria" which is located at New Industrial Area, Doha, Qatar together with all rights
thereto and without any liabilities and obligations. Al Qataria’s activities include the production of reinforcing
steel bars and the trading in steel products. Currently it has annual production capacity of 500,000 MTs of
rebar.

The purchase consideration for the acquisition was QR 346 million and group recognize this acquisition based
on provisional Purchase Price Allocation (“PPA”) during 2023. During the current year, formal PPA was
concluded and there was no material differences in amounts being attributed to the assets acquired, liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed as compared to initial recognition. Below summarizes the details of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as per Purchase Price Allocation as of the date of acquisition:

Property, plant and equipment 345,039
Right-of-use assets 5,788
Other financial assets 1,891
Lease liabilities 6,718
Net identifiable assets 346,000
Less: consideration paid 346,000
Goodwill -
31.2.1 Net cash paid:

Total consideration paid 346,000
Less: cash acquired as part of acquisition 920,
Net consideration paid 345,080

31.2.2 Fair value
The fair estimated by the management is QR 346 million.
The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as follows.

Asset acquired Valuation technique

Property, plant and equipment Replacement cost

Discounted value of future lease payment from acquisition
date

Mainly related to refundable deposits- Book value

Right-of-use assets

Other financial assets
31.2.3 Acquisitions related cost

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of QR 0.38 million (2023: QR 0.93 million) relating to consultant
and external professional fees during current year. These costs have been included in ‘General and
administrative expenses’ in profit or loss.

32. Segment information

The Group operates in the Gulf region. For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services. In determining business units, joint ventures of the Group are treated
as if they are proportionately consolidated within the financial statements. The Group has three reportable
segments as follows:

. The petrochemical segments, which produces and sells ethylene, polyethylene, MTBE, methanol and
other petrochemical products.

. The fertilizer segment, which produces and sells urea, ammonia and other by-products.

. The steel segment, which produces and sells steel pellets, bars, billets and others.

Management of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on operating profit or loss, which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue

The revenue from external parties is measured in the same way as in the statement of profit or loss.

31D 2024 31 December 2023

Revenue Revenue

Inter- from Inter- from

segment external segment external

Total revenue customers Total revenue  customers

Petrochemicals 4,982,966 - 4,982,966 3,937,153 - 3,937,153

Fertilisers 7,246,209 - 7,246,209 7,479,854 - 7,479,854

Steel 3,981,481 - 3,981,481 4,264,178 - 4,264,178

Total segment revenue 16,210,656 - 16,210,656 15,681,185 - 15,681,185
Revenue from investments
in joint venture accounted

for using equity method ~ (3,558,520) - (3,558,520) (3,937,153) - (3,937,153)
Revenue per consolidated

statement of profit or loss 12,652,136 - 12,652,136 11,744,032 - 11,744,032

Revenues from external customers come from the sale of steel bars, billets, coils, direct reduced iron, hot
briquetted iron, by-products, freight revenues, urea, ammonia, methyl-tertiary-butyl-ether (MTBE), methanol,
ethylene, polyethylene and other petrochemical products.

Revenues of approximately QR 12,247 million (2023: QR 11,146 million) are derived from a single external
customer, QatarEnergy Marketing.

The Group entities are domiciled in Qatar, the Kingdom of Bahrain, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and United
Arab Emirates.

Of the Group’s segment revenues in 2024, 78% is earned in Qatar (2023: 76%), 8% is earned in UAE (2023:
8%) and the remaining is distributed in a number of countries which is not split for purpose of segment
reporting.

Segment profit

The following table presents profit information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively:

F i Fertilisers Steel Total

At 31 December 2024
Segment profit 1,430,301 1,969,912 219,818 3,620,031
Share of results from associates - - 345,509 345,509
Total segment profit 1,430,301 1,969,912 565,327 3,965,540

Unallocated income:*

Interest income 544,288
Dividend income 22,017
Other income / (expense) 4,131)
562,174

Unallocated expense:*
Board of Director's fees and expenses (8,750)
QatarEnergy management fee (5,843)
Qatar Stock Exchange fees/charges (2,229)
Other income / (expense) 48,186
31,364
Profit for the year 4,559,078

Petrochemicals Fertilisers Steel Total
At 31 December 2023
Segment profit 1,359,961 1,886,520 745,786 3,992,267
Share of results from associates - - 281,651 281,651
Total segment profit 1,359,961 1,886,520 1,027,437 4,273,918
Unaliocated income:*
Interest income 629,223
Dividend income 19,149
Other income 30,763
679,135
Unaliocated expense:*
Board of Director's fees and expenses (8,750)
QatarEnergy annual fee (7,331)
Qatar Stock Exchange fees/charges (2,223)
Other expenses (211,960)
230,264
Profit for the year 4,722,789

* These represent the income and expenses of 1Q from its own activities excluding dividends received from
subsidiaries and joint ventures, which are eliminated as part of consolidation.

Segment assets

The following table presents segment assets regarding the Group’s business segments as at 31 December
2024 and 2023. Reconciliation of reportable segments total assets:
Adjustments
and
Others _eli i

F i Fertilisers Steel Total

Segment assets:

At 31 December 2024
At 31 December 2023

9,459,104 15,001,768
8,156,758 13,850,621

8,576,936 19,275,322  (9,897,761) 42,415,369
8,641,118 24,537,625 (12,133,507) 43,052,615

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The
Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Industries of Qatar less
the net unrealised gains reserve.

The gearing ratio at year end was as follows:

2024 2023
Cash and bank balances (Note 5) 10,805,589 14,414,189
Less: lease liability (455,128) (381,784)
Net cash and bank balances 10,350,461 14,032,405
Equity 38,651,432 39,976,341

The Group does not have a net debt situation as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

34. Fair value of financial instruments

a.  Fair value measurements

Financial instruments represent any contractual agreement that creates a financial asset, financial liability or
an equity instrument. Financial assets comprise bank balances, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, financial assets at fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial liabilities comprise
trade and other payables and other non-current liabilities.

Classes and categories of financiai instruments and their fair values

The following table combines information about:

- classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics;
- the carrying amounts of financial instruments;

Adjustments h N o N
and - fair values of financial instruments; and
. Fertilisers Steel Others : Total - fair value hierarchy levels of financial assets and financial liabilities for which fair value was disclosed.

Segment liabilities The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured and recognised at fair value at 31
At 31 December 2024 2,072,568 2,517,078 1,095,175 208,191 (2,129,064) 3,763,948 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 on recurring basis: Level 1 Level 2 Level's Total
At 31 December 2023 1,637,187 3,995,720 1,639,521 230,871  (4,427,023) 3,076,276 At31D ber 2024
33. Fi ial risk and ital " Financial assets at fair value through profit and joss:

- Financialrisk and capital managemen Quoted price in an active market 401,389 - - 401,389
a.  Objectives and policies At 31 December 2023
The treasury function of each entity in the Group provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to Financial assets at fair value through profit and foss:
domestic and international financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the Quoted price in an active market 421,079 - - 421,079

operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of
risks. These risks include market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange risk, and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

b.  Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commaodity prices, foreign exchange rates and
interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimizing the return. The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in
commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s financial assets with floating interest rates, which are mainly cash and bank balances.

Sensitivity

For interest bearing assets, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the assets held outstanding at
the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. As at reporting date, if interest rates had
been 100 basis point higher/lower with all other variables held constant, income and equity for the year would
have been QR 108 million (2023: QR 143 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income on interest bearing assets.

(i)  Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. Management is of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to currency risk is
not significant as most of its foreign currency transactions are in United States Dollar which is pegged to Qatari
Riyal.

(i) Equity price risk

The Group’s listed investments are susceptible to equity price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investments. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and placing limits
on individual and total portfolio of equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to senior
management on a regular basis and results are reviewed by the Board of Directors.

Sensitivity

As at the reporting date, the exposure to listed equity securities at fair value was QR 401.39 million (2023: QR
421.08 million) which includes financial assets at FVTPL (Note 12). An increase or decrease of 10% on the
Qatar Stock Exchange index would have an impact of approximately QR 40.1 million (2023: QR 42.1 million)
on the equity.

Al of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded and are included in the Qatar Stock Exchange.
(iv) Commodity price risk

Volatility in prices of oil and gas and refined products is a pervasive element of the Group’s business
environment as the Group’s production and purchase of certain products and sales of refined products are
based on international commodity prices in accordance with a commercial supply agreement entered into with
sales agents. The Group’s refining margin is affected by disproportionate fluctuations in the prices of crude oil
and refined products.

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk, which arises from the purchase and consumption of large
volumes of raw materials in its normal course of business. Raw material prices are linked to an index, which
is volatile and influenced by worldwide factors such as political events, supply and demand fundamentals.

The Group does not use any derivative instruments to manage commodity price risks or for speculative
purposes. The Group’ sensitivity to commodity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year.

b.  Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the creditworthiness of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and
approved by the management annually.

The Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Further, the
Group limits its exposure on export customers by taking out letters of credit, where applicable.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group develops and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise
exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group’s
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.

31 December 2024 12 month or Gross
External credit lifetime carrying Loss Net carrying
ratings ECL amount allowance amouni
Trade and other receivables (1) N/A Lifetime ECL 3,069,343 (58,395) 3,010,948
Fixed deposits N/A Lifetime ECL 7,282,356 - 7,282,356
Cash and bank balances (2) Aaa, Aaand A 12-month ECL 3,523,061 - 3,523,061
31 December 2023 12 month or
External credit lifetime Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
ratings amount  allowance amount
Trade and other receivables (1) N/A Lifetime ECL 2,651,647 (58,395) 2,593,252
Fixed deposits N/A Lifetime ECL 10,849,847 - 10,849,847
Cash and bank balances (2) Aaa, Aaand A 12-month ECL 3,564,272 - 3,564,272

(1) Trade and other receivables include trade accounts receivable, due from related parties, loans to
employees, accrued interest and other receivables.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate
to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of
these assets is presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix.

(2) Loss allowances on bank balances are always measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The
Group considers bank balances to have a low risk level when their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of “investment grade”. The Group considers this to be Ba3 or higher per Moody's Rating
Agency. Accordingly, no material loss allowance on bank balances.

c. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Analysis of financial assets and liabiities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at the reporting
date based on undiscounted contractual repayment obligations:

Total Carrying

Contractual maturities Less than 1 Between More than5 Total non- contractual amount of
of fi ial liabiliti year 1-5 years years current _cash flows liabiliti
At 31 December 2024
Lease liability 87,855 300,790 257,917 558,707 646,562 455,128
Trade payables 283,201 - - - 283,201 283,201
Financial guarantees 257,342 - - - 257,342 257,342
Due to related parties 489,776 - - - 489,776 489,776
Dividend payable 89,244 - - - 89,244 89,244
Accrued expenses 1,326,435 - - - 1,326,435 1,326,435
Other payables 70,644 - - - 70,644 70,644
2,604,497 300,790 257,917 558,707 3,163,204 2,971,770
Total Carrying
Contractual maturities ~ Less than 1 Between Morethan5  Totalnon-  contractual ~ amount of
of financial liabiliti year 1-5 years years current _ cash flows Liabilities
At 31 December 2023
Lease liability 67,875 267,277 230,440 497,717 565,592 381,784
Trade payables 438,416 - - - 438,416 438,416
Financial guarantees 400,000 - - - 400,000 400,000
Due to related parties 330,014 - - - 330,014 330,014
Dividend payable 104,338 - - - 104,338 104,338
Accrued expenses 760,538 - - - 760,538 760,538
Other payables 77,902 - - - 77,902 77,902
2,179,083 267,277 230,440 497,717 2,676,800 2,492,992
e. R iliation of I arising from fi

The below table details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes.

At Non cash At 31
1 January Fi i h D b
2024 cash flows (Note 11) 2024
Lease liabilities 381,784 (77,876) 151,220 455,128
At Non cash At 31
January 1, Financing changes December
2023 cash flows (Note 11) 2023
Lease liabilities 386,259 (123,061) 117,886 381,084

f. Capital management
Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent less net unrealised gains reserve.

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

During the year ended December 2024, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities of the Group are a reasonable approximation of their
fair values.

35. Non-controlling interests

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material
NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.

At 31 December 2024 QAFAC GFC Total
NCI percentage 50% 30%

Non-current assets 1,012,631 28,821 1,041,452
Current assets 1,580,558 40,842 1,621,400
Non-current liabilities (131,240) (151) (131,391)
Current liabilities (692,829) (8,330) (701,159)
Net assets 1,769,120 61,182 1,830,302
Share of net assets 884,560 18,354 902,914
Group tax benefits - (479) (479)
Net assets attributable to NCI 884,560 17,875 902,435
Revenue 1,442,776 88,270 1,531,046
Profit 133,704 8,046 141,750
Total comprehensive income 133,704 8,046 141,750
Profit / total comprehensive income attributable to NCI 66,852 2,414 69,266
Cash flow from operating activities 428,551 12,946 441,497
Cash flow from investment activities (29,814) 324 (29,490)
Cash flow from financing activities (5,807) (6,528) (12,335)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 392,930 6,742 399,672

Financial information for profit or loss and cashflows of QAFAC is for the period from 10 June 2024 to 31
December 2024.

At 31 December 2023 GFC

NCI percentage 30%
Non-current assets 31,479
Current assets 37,607
Non-current liabilities (180)
Current liabilities (10,871)
Net assets 58,035
Net assets attributable to NCI 17,411
Revenue 87,980
Profit 8,833
Total comprehensive income 8,833
Profit / total comprehensive income attributable to NCI 2,650
Cash flow from operating activities 17,494

Cash flow from investment activities 306
Cash flow from financing activities (6,323)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,865

36. Comparative figures

Comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the presentation and classification of the
current year’s consolidated financial statements. However, such reclassifications are not material and did not
have an impact on the previously reported profit, other comprehensive income or the equity for the comparative
year.

Since QAFAC was acquired during the year on 10 June 2024 (Note 31.1), the comparative information included
in these consolidated financial statements may not be fully comparable with the current year.

37. Subsequent events

No significant events have occurred after the reporting date that would materially affect the understanding or
interpretation of these financial statements except for the dividend approved by the Board of Directors as
disclosed in Note 18.

INFORMATION RELATED TO COMPANY'S SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This note provides certain information related to the Company's unconsolidated financial position as at 31
December 2024 and its comparative year. The complete set of separate financial statements of the
Company prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 27 'Separate Financial
Statements' (IAS 27) are issued separately.

Below is the breakdown of IQ’s separate statement of financial position:

31 1 January
December 31 December 2023
2024 2023
Restated * Restated *
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures 8,459,916 8,459,916 8,459,916
Advances 315,544 137,797 35,060
Total non-current assets 8,775,460 8,597,713 8,494,976
Current assets
Other receivables 311,714 135,776 98,691
Due from related parties 1,649,015 3,655,286 3,384,778
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 401,389 421,079 397,118
Cash and cash equivalents 776,146 783,586 5,793,775
Fixed deposits and other bank balances 7,361,600 10,944,185 6,732,264
Total current assets 10,499,864 15,939,912 16,406,626
Total assets 19,275,324 24,537,625 24,901,602
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 6,050,000 6,050,000 6,050,000
Legal reserve 229,035 174,723 174,723
Retained earnings 12,788,850 18,082,032 18,339,884
Total equity 19,067,885 24,306,755 24,564,607
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 201,495 223,253 330,139
Due to a related party 5,944 7,617 6,856
Total current liabilities 207,439 230,870 336,995
Total liabilities 207,439 230,870 336,995
Total equity and liabilities 19,275,324 24,537,625 24,901,602

Please scan the QR-code using a smart phone for
easy access to the full set of financial statements.

FOR MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING AGENDA MATERIALS, PLEASE VISIT WWW.IQ.COM.QA OR EMAIL US AT: IQ@QATARENERGY.QA OR CALL US AT: +974 4013 2080
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Report on the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated
financial statements of Qatar Navigation
QP.S.C. (the ‘Company’) and its
subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’), which
comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024,
the consolidated statements of income
statement, comprehensive income, cash
flows and changes in equity for the year
then ended, and notes, comprising
material accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and its
consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS
Accounting Standards).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards)
(IESBA Code), together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the State of
Qatar, and we have fulfilled our other

The key audit matter

Impairment of vessels and barges

Qatar Navigation Q.P.S.C.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Independent auditors’ report ,

To the Shareholders of Qatar Navigation Q.P.S.C.

ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of
the Group as at and for the year ended 31
December 2023 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 5
February 2024.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We focused on this area due to the
significance of the carrying value of
vessels and barges which comprises 13%
(2023: 12%) of the Group's total assets.
Management is required to exercise
considerable judgment because of the
inherent complexity in estimating the fair
values less costs to sell or the values in
use for assessment of impairment.
Furthermore, the impairment of vessels
and barges represents management's
best estimate of the losses arising from a
decline in value.

The most significant risk in
management’s evaluation of the
recoverability of the carrying value of
vessels and barges lies in identifying
Cash Generating Units (CGUs) with
potential impairment indicators. This
process also involves estimating fair
values less costs to sell and values in use,
which requires determining key
assumptions.

Our audit procedures in this area included
the following, amongst others:

e Evaluating the methodology used by
management to assess the carrying
amount of vessels and barges assigned
to CGUs, and the process for identifying
CGUs that required impairment testing.

e Challenging the management’s
assessment of possible internal and
external indicators of impairment in
relation to the vessels and barges, such
as obsolescence, decline in market value
and operating losses, based on our
knowledge and experience of the
shipping industry.

e Involving our valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount rates
applied, which included assessing the key
inputs used in the calculation with
independently sourced market data.

e Evaluating key inputs and assumptions in
cash flow projections used by the
management including the long-term
outlook on contractual rates, utilization
of the assets, growth rates, terminal
value and capital expenditures.

e Assessing the reliability of cash flow
forecasts through a review of actual past

be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
achieves fair presentation.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
of Directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a

statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of
Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Qatar Commercial Companies Law
No. 11 of 2015, whose certain provisions were
subsequently amended by Law No. 8 of 2021
("amended QCCL"), we also report that:

i) We have obtained all the information and
explanations we considered necessary for the
purposes of our audit.

i) The Company has maintained proper accounting
records and its consolidated financial statements are
in agreement therewith.

i) The report of the Board of Directors is expected to
be made available to us after the date of this auditors’
report.

iv) Furthermore, the physical count of the Company'’s
inventories was carried out in accordance with
established principles.

v) We are not aware of any violations of the applicable
provisions of the amended QCCL or the terms of the
Company's Articles of Association having occurred
during the year which might have had a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial position or
performance as at and for the year ended 31 December
2024.

iv) Furthermore, the physical count of the Company's
inventories was carried out in accordance with
established principles.

v) We are not aware of any violations of the applicable
provisions of the amended QCCL or the terms of the
Company's Articles of Association having occurred
during the year which might have had a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial position or
performance as at and for the year ended 31 December
2024.

2 February 2025

Gopal Balasubramaniam

Doha

KPMG

State of Qatar

Qatar Auditors’ Registry Number 251
Licensed by QFMA: External

Auditors’ License No. 120153

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT -

performance, comparison to previous For the year ended 31 December 2024

forecasts and checking the mathematical

accuracy. 21024 2’023
e Evaluating the appropriateness and CIEET CLEE
completeness of the related disclosures Operating revenues 2,839,797 2,941,790
in the consolidated financial statements. Salaries, wages and other benefits (694,412) (649,684)
Operating supplies and expenses (1,015,721) (1,283,830)
Rent expenses (7,5806) (10,612)
Depreciation and amortisation (442,092) (391,205)
Other Information Reasuniiing SEmeERes, end fer s i eemie] @ Reversal of (provision for) impairment of receivables 15,314 (7,.962)
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other v (Beare) @i D e @Semmins (S Meesssa) o el Other operating expenses (158,9006) (162,172)
infemmEtien, The eiher nfemmetien Gamprisas e the preparation of consolidated financial statements that OPERATING PROFIT ETREG 436325
. - . g are free from material misstatement, whether due to T T
information included in the Company’s Annual Report . . . .
but does not include the consolidated financial fraud or error. Impairment on property, vessels, equipment and intangible
SietamaTis e eur audiens asert e, The In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the AaSets (117'219) (19,666)
Arue fepart fs @pesiad o e mads avelbis to us Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Finance cost (32,086) (49,769)
e e dete of s audhiers! fepert Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, Finance income 1,422 19,269
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board Net gain on disposal of property, vessels,
does not cover the other information and we do not and of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to and equipment 7,610 10,187
pilllnotlexpresslaniformiciiasstrancelconelusion cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do Share of results of joint ventures 143,651 127,161
thereon. = Share of results of associates 584,901 520,369
In connection with our audit of the consolidated Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Net loss on foreign exchange transactions _ (238 (562)
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Consolidated Financial Statements PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,133,435 1,043,314
other information identified above and, in doing so, Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about Income tax expense (13,6()()) (13,789!
consider whether the other information is materially whether the consolidated financial statements as a
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements whole are free from material misstatement, whether due PRQFIT IORHENER 119,769 1,029,525
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that Attr'lbUtable to:
appears to be materially misstated. includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level qu‘“tg hOIde.rS O.f the Parent 1,121,966 1,030,199
Responsibilities of Board of Directors for the of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit Non-controlllng interests ﬂ (674)
Consolidated Financial Statements conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 1,119,769 1,029,525
The Board of Directors is responsible for the material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
eReEEkien and i prasamtaien of ihe csnsslidsias can arise from fraud or error and are considered material (attributable to equity holders of the Parent
Frand SEETES i samsrEne with [ERS if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably expressed in QR per share) 0.99 0.91
== . .
A_AL_A \\ For further details visit our website www.milaha.com Qatar Navigation Q.PS.C. J +974 4494 9666 @Qatarnavigation

MILAHA or Qatar Stock Exchange website www.qe.comqa PO. Box 153, Doha, State of Qatar ~ ®®+974 4483 3244 aeno e
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Qatar Navigation Q.P.S.C.
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AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income , Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ,
For the year ended 31 December 2024 o S0 For the year ended 31 December 2024
QR'000 QR'000 2024 2023
Profit for the year 1,119,769 1,029,525 QR'000 QR'000
Other comprehensive income (OCI): CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss Profit before tax 1,133,435 1,043,314
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI (14,8806) 43,512 . .
) ! Adjustments for:
Equitu-accounted investee - share of OCI (432) 1,305 L .
Depreciation of property, vessels and equipment 300,118 253,059
(n=318) 44,817 Depreciation of investment property 56,629 51,101
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss Amortisation of intangible assets 4,138 4,221
Net loss resulting from cash flow hedges (8,214) (26,003) Depreciation of right-of-use assets 81,207 82,824
'IEFraQtslation reie;vg moiement 1;or eqt:cithg-jc;ounted investee S:(,so;;) . 022— Net gain on disposal of property, vessels,
quity-accounted Investees — share O edging reserves b o and equipment (7,610) (10,187)
250729 (n,981) Share of results of joint ventures (143,651) (127,161)
Total other comprehensive income for the year 125,402 32,836 Share of results of associates (584,901) (520,369)
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,245,171 1,062,361 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 23,346 18,952
Attributable to: Dividend income (172,660) (125,517)
Equity holders of the Parent 1,247,674 1,062,987 Net fair value loss on equity instruments at FVTPL 906 891
Non-controlling interests (2,503) (626) Impairment on property, vessels, equipment and
1245171 1062361 intangible asset 117,219 19,666
(Reversal of) provision for impairment of receivables (15,314) 7,962
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position , Provision for slow-moving inventories 9,246 2,368
Finance cost 32,086 49,769
As at 31 December 2024 Finance income m,422) (19,269)
QRzgég QRzggg Operating profit before working capital changes 822,766 731,624
ASSETS Changes in:
Non-current assets Inventories 20,582 20,572
Property, vessels and equipment 3,095,280 2,775,797 Trade and other receivables (82,313) 43,810
Investment property 875,680 856,183 Trade and other payables (24,019) (114,883)
Intangible assets 4,416 13,274
Right-of-use assets 118,368 115,087 Cash flows generated from operating activities 737,016 681,123
Investments in joint ventures 1,083,572 1,022,138 Employees’ end of service benefits paid (10,544) (11,733)
Investments in associates 8,248,809 7,819,081 . L
Financial assets at FVOCI 2,854,287 2,913,590 Net cash flows from operating activities 726,472 669,390
anvestmentts éﬂtdefﬁ%ts , 365,0300 6o 550 CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
oans granted to companies 77,361 55 :
T Y e T T e 16722773 15,604 708 Purchase of propertg, vessels and equipment (824,4009) (219,047)
Purchase of investment property (76,1206) (22,865)
Current assets e . 3
[ - 62177 92005 Additions to intangible assets (315) (930)
Trade and other receivables 11073,('393 971',290 Investment in securities measured at FVOCI (172,026) (414,673)
Equity instruments at FVTPL 645,751 500,850 Net movement of investment in term deposits 118,145 604,442
Iéwel_?tmgnts lI'T term (?epfc)sits 514,855 633,000 Investments in deposits (365,000) -
2K &l @i GSglivelEies 187,996 A Additions to equity instruments at FVTPL (146,000) -
Total Current assets 2,483,872 2,611,556 Proceeds from disposal of property, vessels,
Total Assets 19,206,645 18,216,264 and equipment and intangible assets 100,235 20,995
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Proceeds from disposal of financial asset at FVOCI 117,185 11,099
Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Dividends received from joint ventures 64,190 129,849
Share capital 1,136,165 1,136,165 Dividend ved ot P SR
Legal reserve 4,693,986 4,693,986 NSNS [REESRAS TiRein) ESediass ' '
General reserve 623,542 623,542 Dividends received from investments 172,666 125,517
Ifi|ai(rj value reserve 2,350,149 2,465,084 Finance income received 11,422 19,269
edging reserve 1,240,400 981,653 ) X . .
TranslEtcn Eesame (18,027) - Net cash (used in) from investing activities (578,331) 618,480
Retained earnings 7,448,492 6,780,714
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 17,474,707 16,681,144 Dividends paid (426,062) (397,658)
Non-controlling interests 2,944 41,569 Payment of lease liabilities (84,162) (81,898)
Total Equity 17,477,651 16,722,713 Loans and borrowings settled (189,246) (756,686)
Liabilities Loans and borrowings utilised 357,000 182,500
Non-current liabilities Finance cost paid (32,08¢) (49,769)
Loans and borrowings 475,359 63,875 = " o
Advance from a customer 66,780 74 710 Net cash used in financing activities (374,556) (1,103,511)
Iﬁeas_e_hab%htles | i o e 61,982 46,862 NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
rovision for employees’ end of service benefits 122,827 17,356
Total Non-current liabilities 726,948 302,803 EQUIVALENTS (226,415) [
Current liabilities Cash and cash equivalents at 1January 414,41 230,052
Trade and other payables 763,646 692,481 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 187,996 414,411
Loans and borrowings 174,556 418,286
|ease liabilities 63,844 79,981
Total Current liabilities 1,002,046 1,190,748
Total Liabilities 1,728,994 1,493,551
Total Equity and Liabilities 19,206,645 18,216,264
On 2 February 2025, the Group’s Board of Directors authorised these consolidated financial
statements for issue, which were signed on its behalf by the following:
Jassim bin Hamad bin Jassim bin Jaber Al-Thani Fahad bin Saad Al-Qahtani
Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ) |
For the year ended 31 December 2024 Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Share Legal General Fair value Hedging Translation Retained Non-controlling
Capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests Total
QR'000  QR'000 QR'000  QR'000 QR'000 QR'000 QR'000 QR'000 QR'000 QR'000
At 1January 2023 1,136,165 4,693,986 623,542 2,472,074 993,634 - 6,122,169 16,041,570 42,195 16,083,765
Total comprehensive income:
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - - 1,030,199 1,030,199 (674) 1,029,525
Other comprehensive income - - - 44,769 (1,981) _ - 32,788 48 32,836
Total comprehensive income - - - 44,769 (1,981) _ 1,030,199 1,062,987 (6206) 1,062,361
Transactions with owners of the Company:
Dividends - - - - - - (397,658) (397,658) _ (397,658)
Transfer of reserves on disposal of financial
assets at FVOC| - - - (51,759) _ - 51,759 - - -
Other equity movement:
Contribution to Social and Sports Fund - - - - - - (25,755) (25,755) - (25,755)
At 31 December 2023 1,136,165 4,693,986 623,542 2,465,084 981,653 _ 6,780,714 16,681,144 41,569 16,722,713
Total comprehensive income:
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - - 1,121,966 1,121,966 (2,197) 1,119,769
Other comprehensive income - - - (115,012) 258,747 (18,027) - 125,708 (306) 125,402
Total comprehensive income - - - (115,012) 258,747 (18,027) 1,121,966 1,247,674 (2,503) 1,245,171
Transactions with owners of the Company:
Dividends - - - - - - (426,062) (426,062) - (426,062)
Transfer of reserves on disposal of equity
investments at FVOCI - - - 77 _ - (77) - - -
Other equity movement:
Reduction of capital (i) - - - - - - _ _ (36,122) (36,122)
Contribution to Social and Sports Fund - - - - - - (28,049) (28,049) - (28,049)
At 31 December 2024 1,136,165 4,693,986 623,542 2,350,149 1,240,400 (18,027) 7,448,492 17,474,707 2,944 17,477,651
()During the year, Qatar Quarries and Building Materials Company P.Q.S.C., one of the subsidiaries of the Group have resolved to reduce the equity by way of repayments amounting to QR 36.12 million affecting the Group’s non-controlling interests.
The above published financial information are not the full set of the consolidated financial statements.
The published audit report of the independent auditors is issued on the full set of consolidated financial statements which are available on the Company’s website.
=
AAL A \\ For further details visit our website www.milaha.com Qatar Navigation Q.PS.C. J +974 4494 9666 @Qatarnavigation
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Mexican peso leads
broad bounce against
dollar as tariffs delayed

Bloomberg
Mexico City

The Mexican peso led a re-
bound in broad currency
markets while the dollar all
but erased gains on news US tar-
iffs on Mexico would be delayed
for one month.

The peso, which fell as much as
3% overnight, gained more than
1% against the greenback as Mex-
ico President Claudia Sheinbaum
said US tariffs against Mexico
will be postponed for one month
after a conversation with Donald
Trump on Monday. Trump con-
firmed the information with a
post on social media, adding that
he looks forward to additional
rounds of negotiation.

The Bloomberg Dollar Spot In-
dex wiped out its advance to trade
barely changed. Canada’s dollar
pared losses of as much as 1.7%
against its US counterpart to be
down just 0.4% to 1.4593. Gauges
for developing nation currencies
and stocks, which were losing the
most since Trump secured a second
term in November, also rebounded.

“When it comes to Trump it’s
hard for narratives to trade even
for 24 hours before an unwind
headline,” said Jordan Rochester,
head of FICC strategy at Mizuho
Bank Ltd. “This market will as-
sume there is some sort of read-
through for Canada but by raising
their own tariffs against the US it
made things more complicated.”

The prospects of a trade war,
which materialized over the
weekend on Trump’s announce-
ments of levies on Mexico, Can-
ada and China, had investors pil-
ing into bullish dollar position
on bets that the tariffs would fuel
inflation and limit the room for
the Federal Reserve to cut inter-
est rates. Tariffs that reduce im-

The Mexican peso led arebound in broad currency markts while the dollar all but erased

gains on news US tariffs on Mexico would be delayed for one month

ports into the US stand to reduce
the flow of dollars overseas, which
would also likely bolster the cur-
rency. The dollar has surged
roughly 4.5% since Trump came
out ahead in November’s presi-
dential election.

After Trump ordered 25% tar-
iffs on exports from Mexico on
Saturday, Sheinbaum said she
was asking her economy minister
to respond with tariff and non-
tariff measures, without elaborat -
ing. On Monday she said she had
reached several agreements with
Trump, and that both countries
will start working on trade and
security.

“This very much plays into the
broad market bias that favours
viewing tariffs as a negotiat-
ing tactic rather than a serious
threat,” said Nick Rees, head of
macro research at Monex Europe

Ltd. in London. “There was a deal
to be done with Mexico, but for
Canada this will be much harder”

Shares for the $1.3bn iShares
MSCI Mexico ETF rose 2.2% to
$50.6 per share, bouncing back
from a loss as large as 3.45%. The
local stock market is closed for a
holiday.

The South African rand also
trimmed losses as the appetite for
riskier assets across the globe im-
proved. Still, the currency is likely
to remain under pressure amid
Trump’s pledge to halt all future
funding to the country because of
anew land-expropriation law.

The offshore Chinese yuan
also pared an earlier decline to
be down about 0.1% on the day
against the dollar — even though
Trump has so far made no refer-
ences to whether his 10% tariff on
Chinese goods would be delayed.

“Therisk is two-fold, a cry wolf
market that can eventually be bit -
ten, and some underlying damage
even if some truce is found, that
the repeat of these episodes and
the volatility entailed weighs on
investment spirits, both in mar-
kets and real economy,’ said Ale-
jandro Cuadrado, global head of
FX at BBVA in New York.

The back and forth on Trump’s
policies will likely continue to fuel
swings in risk assets. A JPMorgan
Chase & Co gauge of global for-
eign-exchange volatility jumped
to 8.37%, the highest since Janu-
ary 22.

“We don’t think the MXN re-
prieve will last;” said Aroop Chat -
terjee, a strategist at Wells Fargo
in New York. “It’s a question of
when, not if tariffs go up and mar-
kets remain severely underpriced
for that outcome.”

Base metals erase
losses as traders weigh
scope of Trump tarifts

Bloomberg
London

to aluminium erased losses

as uncertainty swirled sur-
rounding the scope of President
Donald Trump’s tariffs on China,
Canada and Mexico, and the im-
plications for global economic
growth.

Trump announced a 10% levy
on imports from China on Sat-
urday, as well as 25% tariffs on
Canada and Mexico. China’s
commerce ministry vowed “cor-
responding  countermeasures,’
without elaborating, and also said
it would file a complaint at the
World Trade Organisation.

Aluminium initially lost more
than 1.6% on the London Metal
Exchange before rebounding to
edge upward as trading got un-
derway in the US. Copper also
erased losses, signalling hesitan-
cy among investors ahead of the
planned imposition of the tariffs
on Tuesday.

The turnaround in indus-
trial metals came after the dol-
lar pushed lower following news
that Mexican President Clau-
dia Sheinbaum said US tariffs
against Mexico will be delayed for
one month after a conversation
with Donald Trump on Monday.
A weak US dollar makes met-
als more appealing from inves-
tors holding other currencies as
they’re priced in the greenback.

While the measures are broadly
expected to dent economic growth
and fuel inflation, the scope of the
tariffs remained unclear, as ana-
lysts questioned whether metals
including aluminium, nickel and
zinc would be levied at the lower
10% tariff rate applicable to en-
ergy resources due to their status
as critical minerals.

“Macro concerns may domi-
nate metals price action initially,
but metals-specific factors mat-
ter too,” Morgan Stanley analysts
led by Amy Gower said in an e-
mailed note. A lower tariff on
aluminium could “alleviate some

Industrial metals from copper

concerns that Canadian metal
could flood other regions, easing
pressure on the European market
and the LME contract.”

Aluminium is likely to be the
most heavily disrupted commod-
ity, as Canada accounted for 69%
of US imports in 2023, George
Heppel, an analyst at BMO Capi-
tal Markets, said in an e-mailed
note.

“We expect this announce-
ment to drive further volatility
of US commodity exchanges as
investors try to price in the risk
of Trump further honouring his
commitment to universal tariffs,”
he wrote. “Heightened disruption
will also be seen in the aluminium
market, with US premiums likely
to spike until Canadian produc-
ers and US consumers alike can
reroute supply chains to avoid the
new duties”

A global trade war may spur in-
flation, keep interest rates higher
for longer, and will be a headwind
for global growth and metals de-
mand. It could also lead to na-
tions restricting exports of criti-
cal minerals. China, the world’s
largest consumer of most metals,
is still struggling to revive eco-
nomic growth that hasn’t fully
recovered from Covid-19, al-
though it will now likely step up
measures to stimulate expansion.

“While the energy transi-
tion and a recovery in economic
growth in Europe would support
metals demand, Trump’s pro-
posed tariffs will limit demand
growth” as business confidence
will stay subdued, ANZ Group
Holdings Ltd said in a note by
analysts Daniel Hynes and Soni
Kumari. Credit growth in China
remains depressed, but deploy-
ment of additional stimulus will
be a “wild card for metals de-
mand,” they said.

Aluminium futures on the Lon-
don Metal Exchange rose 1.4% to
$2,628.50 a metric tone. Copper
rose 0.4% while zinc gained 1.9%
while nickel was little changed.
China’s domestic markets were
closed for Lunar New Year, and
reopen on Wednesday.
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If there is no quorum, the alternative date will be Monday 3rd of March
2025, at 9:30 PM following the same process mentioned above.

Agenda for the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting ,

1. Presenting the Chairman's message, presenting the Board of Directors’ Report
of Milaha Group's operation and financial position for the year ending
31/12/2024, and the future plan of the Group; and approval of both.

2. Presentation of the Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements of Milaha
Group for the financial year ending 31/12/2024, and approval of same.

3. Discussing the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Income of
Milaha Group for the financial year ending 31/12/2024, and approval of same.

4. Discussing the Group’'s Annual Governance Report for 2024, and approval of

5. Discussing the Board's recommendation for distributing cash dividends to the
Shareholders at 40% of the nominal value, amounting to QR 0.40 per share,
and approval of same.

6. Discharging the Board Members for liability for the financial year 2024, and
approving the remunerations recommended for them.

7. Appointing an Auditor for the financial year 2025 and deciding their fees.

For further details visit our website www.milaha.com
or Qatar Stock Exchange website www.qe.com.qa

Qatar Navigation Q.P.S.C. ("Milaha")
Ordinary General Assembly Meeting 2024

Invitation to the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting 2024 ,

The Board of Directors has the pleasure to invite the Shareholders to
attend the Ordinary General Assembly Meetings of Qatar Navigation
Q.P.S.C ("Milaha”) which will be held on Monday 24th of February 2025 at
5:00 PM. The meeting will be held at the Company’s Head Office (via zoom
app). You are kindly requested to arrive at the Company’s Head Office
located in Ain Khaled (Industrial Area No. 523, Area 56, street no. 10, Zone
E) one hour before the meeting (in person) where the registration begins
at 4:00 PM and receive your meeting link after the registration is complete

Dear Shareholders,

throughout the vear.

Qatar Navigation Q.P.S.C.

P.0. Box 153, Doha, State of Qatar

Message from the Chairman of the Board of Directors ,

On behalf of Milaha's Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the 2024
financial statements, highlighting the Company'’s achievements and performance

Against the backdrop of regional conflicts and global economic uncertainty, Milaha
remained focused on moving full steam ahead towards our strategic objectives.
The company continued investing in assets to support future growth, namely in
the critically important oil & gas sector, with close to QR 1 billion in total capital
expenditures spent in 2024.

2024 was notable for several milestones, including the launch of new shipping
routes in our Container Shipping unit, the completion of new projects in our
Shipyard, and the securing of specialized engineering contracts in our Offshore
unit, to name a few. Additionally, the Company made significant progress on our
sustainability goals, highlighted by the first-time chartering of two eco-friendly
container vessels. Throughout this period, we upheld an unwavering commitment
to safety by maintaining the highest standards for our staff and crew.

Our operational achievements were matched by impressive financial results, with
net profit continuing the upward trajectory of recent years, growing from QR
1.030 billion in 2023 to QR 1.122 billion in 2024, representing 9% annual growth.

Reflecting our strong financial performance and anticipated investment needs,
the Board of Directors is pleased to propose a cash dividend distribution of 40%
of the nominal share value, at QR 0.40 per share, to the General Assembly.

On behalf of Milaha's Board of Directors, | extend my sincere appreciation to His
Highness Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al-Thani, the Emir of Qatar, and to His
Highness Sheikh Hamad bin Khalifa Al-Thani, the Father Emir, for their visionary
and inspiring leadership that has enabled Milaha's success and supported the
realization of Qatar’s Vision 2030.

| would also like to extend my gratitude to our valued Shareholders for their trust
and support, and to all Milaha employees for their collective hard work and
dedication in achieving the Company’s impressive results.

Jassim bin Hamad bin Jassim bin Jaber Al-Thani
Chairman of the Board of Directors

J +974 4494 9666
= +974 4483 3244

@Qatarnavigation
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Bond traders warn of
inflation shock as US
yield curve flattens

Bloomberg
Washington

S bond markets are flash-

l | ing a warning to US Presi-

dent Donald Trump that

his move to unleash tariffs on top

trading partners risks fuelling in-
flation and stymieing growth.

Short-end Treasury yields rose
as much as eight basis points to
4.28% yesterday as longer-dated
rates held steady, flattening the
curve by the most since November.

Such moves are typically as-
sociated with stagflation — when
inflation and elevated interest
rates harm bonds in the short
term, only for subsequently
weaker growth to make longer-
term debt more appealing.

Traders have pared bets on the
extent of easing from the Federal
Reserve this year and now see a
50% chance of two quarter-point
rate cuts this year, down from
90% on Friday.

Over the weekend, Trump fol-
lowed through on his threat to
impose levies on the exports of
Canada, Mexico and China, while
reiterating a warning to the Eu-
ropean Union that tariffs “will
definitely happen” Goldman
Sachs Group Inc is positioning
for further curve flattening, and
firms including BNP Paribas SA,
Singapore’s DBS Bank Ltd and
Japan’s SMBC Nikko Securities
Inc said this puts the US econo-

US Treasury building in Washington, DC. US bond markets are flashing a warning to President Donald Trump
that his move to unleash tariffs on top trading partners risks fuelling inflation and stymieing growth.

my at risk of falling into stagfla-
tion. “Trump’s policy mix has
increased stagflationary risks in
the economy,” Calvin Tse, head of
Americas macro strategy and US
economics at BNP in New York,
wrote in a note.

That implies the Fed will keep
rates on hold for the next cou-
ple of meetings while it judges
whether growth or inflation risks
are “more serious,” Tse added.

With gasoline and food not
excluded from tariffs, the BNP
strategists said long-term infla-
tion expectations could keep ris-
ing, favouring 10-year inflation-
linked Treasuries. “If this does

indeed materialise, we think that
rate hikes become a real possibility
from the Fed this year, even in the
face of lower growth,” they added.

Euro-area bonds diverged
sharply with US peers, rallying
amid a broad flight to safety. The
two-year German yield dropped
eight basis points to 2.05%, more
than 220 basis points lower than
the US equivalent, the wide gap
since late December.

“In terms of the strategic impli-
cations of this dramatic opening
salvo on the trade war front, we
would be firmly biased in favour
of a wider Atlantic spread;” Ra-
bobank strategists wrote in a note.

They recommend positioning for
that move via shorter-dated ten-
ors given longer-dated Treasuries
may gain on the view that trade
frictions will weigh on future US
growth. Goldman Sachs sees the
Fed as more likely to hold rates
steady to contain inflation risk
than to cut them to boost growth.

“That more hawkish outcome
ought to correspond to mar-
kets pricing more downside to
growth/less upside to inflation
further out, ultimately weighing
on longer term yields and flat-
tening the curve,” said Dominic
Wilson, senior markets advisor at
Goldman.

Asia stock markets
dive, dollar rallies

AFP
Hong Kong

sian stocks tanked and the
Adollar surged yesterday af-

ter Donald Trump signed
off huge tariffs on China, Canada
and Mexico, and warned the Eu-
ropean Union would be hit “pretty
soon”.

In Tokyo, the Nikkei 225 closed
down 2.7% to 38,520.09 points;
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index
ended down 0.4% to 20,142.64
points and Shanghai closed for a
holiday. Less than two weeks after
moving back into the White House
the US president on Saturday made
good on warnings that he would
resume his hardball tactics, spark-
ing fears of trade wars that could
hammer the global economy.

The move will see 25% levies on
imports from Canada and Mexico
and 10% duties on Chinese goods.

Analysts at Oxford Economics
said the tariffs could see Mexican
inflation surge to 6% annually,
from 4.2% in December, while the
peso sank 7%. Chief EY economist
Gregory Daco said Canada’s econ-
omy could shrink 2.7% this year
and 4.3% next year.

White House Press Secretary
Karoline Leavitt said tariffs were
“promises made and promises
kept by the president”

Canada said it would file a World
Trade Organisation claim against
the US, while Mexican President
Claudia Sheinbaum announced
that retaliatory tariffs would be
imposed on US products.

China’s trade ministry said Bei-
jing would take “corresponding
countermeasures”.

While the decision had been
well-flagged, equity markets took
a hefty hit, with all three main in-
dexes on Wall Street turning nega-

tive at the end of Friday trade after
Trump reaffirmed he would impose
the tariffs. In Asia, the Year of the
Snake started with a nasty bite.

Tokyo, Seoul and Jakarta each
shed more than 2% while Sydney,
Bangkok and Wellington were
each off more than 1%. Hong Kong
pared early losses but remained in
the red along with Singapore and
India.

Taipei plunged more than 3%,
with chip titan and market-heav-
yweight TSMC diving 5.7% on the
first day of trade since China’s
DeepSeek unveiled a cheaper ar-
tificial intelligence model rivalling
those of US tech giants.

“This wasn’t a shock — it’s been
telegraphed for weeks — but inves-
tors will still feel the jolt as markets
adjust to a move almost univer-
sally seen as damaging to global
growth and financial stability,”
said Stephen Innes at SPI Asset
Management. On currency mar-
kets the dollar soared 2.3% against
the Mexican peso and more than
1% against the Canadian dollar. It
was also sharply higher against the
South Korean won, Australian dol-
lar and South African rand.

“We suspect the path of least
resistance for now is for Asian cur-
rencies and risk assets to weaken,
together with a greater risk premia
to account for future meaningful
tariff moves beyond what we have
seen,” said Michael Wan at MUFG.

Gold slipped, having hit a fresh
record above $2,800 last week, as
the stronger dollar made it more
expensive to buy the metal for
holders of other currencies.

Trump’s latest salvo came at the
end of a volatile week for markets
following news of DeepSeek’s R1
chatbot, which saw some inves-
tors re-evaluate their surge into
tech giants in recent years as they
bet big on the Al revolution.

Car prices face $3,000 increase as Trump tariffs hit auto sector

Bloomberg
New York

President Donald Trump’s tariffs against
Canada and Mexico will threaten
production at automakers across North
America and send record vehicle prices
even higher, with about a quarter

of a trillion dollars in trade set to be
disrupted.

Trump on Saturday followed through

on his warning to impose 25% tariffs on
imports from the two countries, blaming
the flow of migrants and drugs over the
US borders — as well as large trade deficits
— for the move. Barring a surprise, the
tariffs are set to take effect at 12:01am on
Tuesday, giving manufacturers less than
48 hours to figure out what to do.

“The auto sector is going to shut down
within a week,” said Flavio Volpe,
president of Canada’s Automotive Parts
Manufacturers’ Association. “At 25%,
absolutely nobody in our business is
profitable by a long shot.”

The duties would immediately hit almost
one quarter of the 16mn vehicles that are
sold in the US each year, as well as the
parts and components that go into them

— an import market that totalled $225bn
in 2024, according to research from
automotive consultant AlixPartners. Tariffs
will add $60bn in costs to the industry, the
research shows, much of which is likely to
be passed on to consumers.

Automakers in Mexico have been
preparing by preemptively importing
both more components and vehicles,
which may ease the blow in the first few
weeks, said Guillermo Rosales, president
of the Mexican Association of Automotive
Distributors, or AMDA. After that, the
outlook is less certain. “Everything
depends on the course that the Trump
administration takes in this matter,” he
said.

Car components can make their way back
and forth across US borders as many as
eight times during production, heaping
duties onto a sprawling industry that relies
on materials from all three countries.

At the consumer end of the supply chain,
the average price of a new car may climb
by about $3,000, Wolfe Research analysts
have said, further straining affordability
with prices already close to all-time highs.
“It is going to be a lot of impact,” Aruna
Anand, chief executive officer of parts
supplier Continental AG’s North American

business, said in an interview. “The
question is who is absorbing the price and
it becomes, are we able to absorb that
price or is it going to be shifted to the end
consumer?”

Since Trump renegotiated the free trade
agreement between the US, Canada and
Mexico during his first term, automakers
in those countries have had to meet
higher thresholds for parts made in

North America, but trilateral trade hasn’t
incurred duties. The president’s new tariffs
upend the agreement, which is due to be
reviewed next year.

For automaking hubs like Windsor, Ontario,
and Detroit, and across multiple states

in Mexico, the effects are likely to be
immediate.

“We’re talking about thousands and
thousands of jobs being lost,” said John
D’Agnolo, the president of a local union
representing workers at Ford Motor Co.’s
engine plant in Windsor. “We’d truly be a
ghost town, here in Windsor, if we lost this
type of business.”

Ontario Premier Doug Ford has warned
that more than 500,000 jobs may be lost
just in Canada’s most populous province,
many of them in the auto sector.

Industry experts said that sourcing every

last piece of a vehicle within the US supply
chain — as Trump wants — is a tough ask.
On the campaign trail, Trump promised
that his protectionist policies would bring
manufacturing jobs back to the US, raise
revenue and lower the country’s trade
deficit. Analysts have warned it could take
years to shift production and create new
jobs.

General Motors, the largest US carmaker,
has said it wouldn’t move production
unless the company can be sure it makes
long-term sense.

“We are working across our supply chain,
logistics network, and assembly plants so
that we are prepared to mitigate near-term
impacts,” CEO Mary Barra told analysts
on January 28. “Many of these actions

are no cost or low cost. What we won’t do
is spend large amount of capital without
clarity.”

The Detroit-based company imports its
Chevrolet Equinox EV and Blazer EV from
a plant in Ramos Arizpe, Mexico, and
manufactures large pickup trucks in Silao.
GM Chief Financial Officer Paul Jacobson
said last week that the company was
taking inventory in Canada and Mexico
down in anticipation of tariffs. The
automaker was also expediting the

shipment of those vehicles, according to a
spokesman.

In Mexico, tariffs would likely reduce
growth in the country’s auto-parts sector
to zero this year, from a projected 2%, said
Francisco Gonzalez, executive president
of Mexico’s National Auto Parts Industry
Association, known as INA. Gonzalez noted
that price increases would quickly be
passed on to consumers.

“The automotive industry cannot adapt to
such a decision in the short term,” he said.
One supplier said that their margins on
certain parts made in Mexico were just 2%
to 10%, so adding the tariff would mean
an instant loss of as much as 23% on each
component.

Alongside Trump’s complaints about
migrants and the drug trade, the president
has also expressed concern that China

is using Mexico as a “backdoor” to send
cheap goods into the US. Since the US
election, President Claudia Sheinbaum
has added tariffs of her own on cheap
Asian imports and shifted focus to local
manufacturing. She’s vowed to retaliate
against the US duties.

As recently as January 29, Sheinbaum had
sounded confident that the country would
sidestep any trade duties.
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i ACCOUNTING SERVICES

ACCOUNTING

GULF FINOVATE - Financial Planning / Website / ERP/ IT Support.
U-301, B-72, D-Ring Rd. T: 44335164, E: info@qulf-finovate.com / W: www.qulf-finovate.com

BUS RENTAL/ HIRE

0 MASTER W.L.L. 15/26/30/65 Seater Buses with / W-out Driver
Contact # 55853618, 55861541 (24 Hours) F: 44425610 Em: gataroffice@yahoo.com

THOUSANDS TRANSPORT 60/67 Seated A/C non AC Buses w/ w-out driver
T 4418 0042...F: 4418 0042...M:; 5587 5266...Em: sales@thousandstransport.com

TRAVELLER TRANSPORT - 13/22/2/36/66 Seater Bus With & Without Driver,
Tel: 44513283 Mob: 30777432 / 55899097. Email: info@travellertransport.com

HIPOWER TRANSPORT: 13/22/26/66 Seater Buses & Pickups with & without drver,
Tel: 4468 1056, Mob; 5581 1381, 7049 5406, ...... Em: hipower@safarigroup.net

BUSINESS SOLUTION

QATAR ASPECT WLL Business Setup, Local Sponsor, CR License, PRO Service
;]| TT1912119 o Em: info@qataraspect.com

Wyt CARGO SERVICES

GOODWILL CARGO Air, Sea & Land Cargo Services Worldwide Door to Door
Packing & Moving T. 4462 6549, 4487 8448..M: 3318 8200, 3311 2400. Em: sales@goodwillcargogatar.com

CAR HIRE

AL MUFTAH RENT-A-CAR Main office D-Ring Rd. T: 4463 4444, 4401 0700
Aiport 463 433, AL Khor 4411 334 Leasing 589 1334. . reservations@rentacardaha com. wwwrentacardoha com

AL SAAD RENT A CAR Head Office-Bldg: 242, C-Ring Road T: 4444 9300
Branch-Barwa village, Bldg #17, shop #19.......T: 4415 4414, ..M: 3301 3547

AVIS RENT A CAR Al Nasr Holding Co. Building, Bldg. 84, St. 820, Zone 40
T. 4466 7744 F: 4465 7626 Airport T. 4010 8887 Em:avis@qatar.net.ga, www.avisqatar.com

THOUSANDS RENT A CAR
Bldg No 3, Al Andalus Compound, D-ring Rd..T. 44423560, 44423562 M: 5551 4510 F: 44423561

BUDGET RENT A CAR Competitive rates for car rental & leasing
Main Office T: 4432 5500..M: 6697 1703, Toll Free: 800 4627, Em: info@budgetqatar.com

CLEANING

|

CAPITAL CLEANING CO. W.L.L. Alltype of Cleaning Services-Reasonable Rates
T, 44582257, 44582546 F: 44582529 M: 33189899 Em: capitalcleaningwll@gmail.com

QATAR DESIGN CONSORTIUM - 50 300, 14001, 45001, 9001, 700, 2230, 4101, et.
T: 4419 1777 F: 4443 3873 M: 5540 6516 .................Em: jenson@qdcqatar.net

QATAR PEST CONTROL COMPANY
T: 44222888 M: 55517254, 66590617 F: 44368727, Em:qatarpest@qatar.net.qa

DOHA PEST CONTROL & CLEANING CO. W.LL.
T: 4470 9777.. M: 5551 3862, 5551 4709..F: 4436 0838...Em: sales@dohapest.com

Ty
AL MUFTAH GENERAL SERVICES www.rentacardoha.com

T. 4463 4444/ 4401 0700...M: 5554 2067, 5582 3100....Em:reservations@rentacardoha.com

SCHOOL LAB SUPPLIES

SLS SCIENTIFIC LABORATORY SUPPLIES-CQATAR, Tunkeysouion,direc source fom UK,

Mob:51080075 | email: slsqatar@scientific-labs.com | www.science2education.co.uk

» TRANSLATION SERVICES

ASIA TRANSLATION SERVICES www.asiatranslationcenter.com
Sofitel Complex, 1st Floor...T: 44364355, 4029 1307, 44440943 Em:asiatranslation@gmail.com

Updated on1s' & 16"

of Every Month

AT YOUR SERVICE

DAILY FOR THREE MONTHS
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Riyadh Air weighs 50 widebody aircraft order from Boeing, Airbus

Bloomberg
Riyadh

Riyadh Air is in negotiations with
Boeing Co and Airbus SE for an
order of as many as 50 additional
widebody aircraft as the Saudi
Arabian airline seeks to expand its
fleet to help turn the country into an
aviation and tourism hub.

The startup airline is considering
both the Airbus 350-1000 and
Boeing’s 777X models, according to
people familiar with the talks. The
carrier is keen to secure delivery
slots that are becoming harder to
get, said the people, who asked not
to be identified discussing private
deliberations.

Riyadh Air said in response to
Bloomberg inquiries that it recently
put out a so-called request for
product for more widebody aircraft
and that the campaign is ongoing.
Boeing said it’s always in talks with
potential customers on their fleet
requirements, while Airbus declined

to comment on a potential order

and said discussions with customers
remain confidential.

The people cautioned that the
number of aircraft may fluctuate,
with as many as half the order
classified as non-firm options,
depending on what the planemakers
can offer.

The airline has already placed orders
for 60 Airbus A321neo aircraft and 39
Boeing 787s. Chief Executive Officer
Tony Douglas said in January that
the carrier planned to make another
aircraft order by the second quarter,
without providing specifics.

The aircraft now under consideration
are the biggest in the manufacturers’
fleets, and both models come with
their own set of challenges. Boeing’s
latest 777 is yet to be certified and is
already years behind schedule. The
Airbus 350-1000 has come under
scrutiny as some carriers have said
the Rolls Royce Holdings Plc engine
has performance issues in harsh and
hot climates like the Gulf, requiring
more frequent maintenance.
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RIYADH AIR

Riyadh Air is considering both the Airbus 350-1000 and Boeing’s
777X models, according to people familiar with the talks. The
carrier is keen to secure delivery slots that are becoming harder
to get, said the people, who asked not to be identified discussing
private deliberations

Turkiye’s inflation rate falls to
42%, slowing less than expecte

Many traders expect the central

X
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Turkiye’s central bank headquarters in Ankara. The central bank lowered borrowmg
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Bloomberg
Istanbul

urkiye’s annual inflation

I eased less than expected by

analysts in January, in what

could present a challenge to the

central bank just as it began inter-
est-rate cuts.

Consumer prices rose 42.1%
year-on-year, compared to 44.4%
in December, state statistics office
TurkStat said on Monday. The me-
dian forecast in a Bloomberg sur-
vey of analysts was 41.1%, with the
highest estimate being 41.6%.

The monthly inflation rate also
surprised, climbing to 5% from 1%
in December. That was the high-
est figure in a year and worse than
the survey expectation of 4.3%.
Health-related prices accelerated
the most on a monthly basis, by al-
most 24%.

The central bank lowered bor-
rowing costs in January for the sec-
ond straight month and signalled
similar moves will follow.

It cuts its one-week repo rate
by 250 basis points to 45% and
dropped a reference to “monthly”
inflation — its preferred gauge
until then — suggesting an easing

bank to cut by 250 basis points at
each of its seven remaining mon-
etary policy committee meetings
this year.

Monday’s data raises some
questions over whether policy-
makers can deliver on that, though
the fact there’s isn’t another MPC
meeting until March 6 plays into
their hands.

“We're not seeing risks to rate
cut path for now as things will like-
ly calm down by March meeting,”
said Onur Ilgen, head of treasury
at MUFG Bank Turkiye in Istanbul.

Turkish stocks extended losses
after the data, with the Borsa Is-
tanbul Banks Index dropping 4.3%
as of 10.45 am in Istanbul.

The lira was little changed af-
ter the inflation data. It was down
0.6% to 35.96 per dollar, its biggest
drop on a closing basis since late
December. That’s as emerging-
market currencies fall following
President Donald Trump’s an-
nouncement of tariffs on some of
America’s biggest trade partners.

Turkiye’s Central Bank Gover-
nor Fatih Karahan is due to present
an inflation report on February 7.
The bank’s most recent projection
sees consumer prices slowing to

costs in January for the second straight month and signalled similar moves will follow. bias.

Bloomberg QuickTake Q&A

21% at the end of the year.

Kuwait sees
deficit widening

12% to $20.5bn
next year

Bloomberg
Dubai

11.9% rise in the deficit to 6.31bn dinars ($20.5bn)
or the fiscal year starting April 1.

That’s the equivalent of roughly 13% of gross domes-
tic product.

The Opec member is projecting revenue of 18.23bn
dinars, down 3.6% on the current year, the Ministry of
Finance said on Sunday. Non-oil revenue is forecast to
rise 9% to 2.92bn dinars.

Projected outlays in 2025-26 are seen at 24.54bn di-
nars, just 0.1% down on the current year’s spending.

Klwait unveiled budget proposals that forecast an

The Opec member is projecting revenue of
18.23bn dinars, down 3.6% on the current year,
the Ministry of Finance said on Sunday. Non-oil
revenue is forecast torise 9% to 2.92bn dinars

While Kuwait runs fiscal deficits, the International
Monetary Fund says that using a broader definition —
encompassing investment income from the sovereign
wealth fund and profits transferred from state entities
— the country has posted wide surpluses for several
years.

The draft budget was passed by the Gulf nation’s
cabinet on Sunday and now needs to be approved by the
ruling emir, Sheikh Mishaal al-Ahmed al-Sabah.

In an effort to tighten its belt, the government has
taken some decisions to rationalise spending, including
cuts in health insurance for retirees and civil servants.
Kuwait is seen among the slowest in the Gulf to reform
and diversify its oil-reliant economy.

Pakistansigns agreementtodefer
$1.2bn payment for Saudi oil

Pakistan on Monday signed an agreement with
the Saudi Fund for Development to defer by one
year a $1.2bn payment on the country’s oil imports,
the country’s prime minister office said, reports
Reuters.

Pakistan’s state-run television showed the signing
ceremony live ahead of a delegation of the fund
led by its CEO Sultan Bin Abdul Rehman al-
Marshad called on Prime Minister Shehbaz Sharif.
Sharif welcomed the signing of the oil import
financing facility, the office said in a statement.
Pakistan will receive the oil on deferred payment
for one year, it said.

“This project will strengthen Pakistan’s economic
resilience by securing a stable supply of petroleum
products while reducing immediate fiscal
burdens,” the prime minister office said.

It said the fund will provide an amount of $41mn
for a water supply scheme to help access to clean
drinking water for 150,000 local people of a
district in northwest Pakistan.

Petroleum products mostly from Saudi Arabia
make the major chuck of Pakistan’s import bill.
The Saudi facility to defer the payment can help
Islamabad boost its foreign reserves ahead of the
first review of a $7bn IMF bailout in March.

Trump wants to ‘take back’ Panama Canal: That’s not so simple

By Peter Millard

President Donald Trump has called for the US to

retake control of the Panama Canal unless the

cost of passage for naval and merchant ships is
slashed. Trump’s refusal to rule out the use of force

is a throwback to the 19th century era of gunboat
diplomacy. While it remains unclear whether Trump is
simply posturing, his demand has jolted Latin America,
which is less afflicted by territorial disputes than
regions such as the Middle East and Asia. It shows a
willingness to flout treaties and anger allies to further
US interests. It’s also a way of confronting China, which
Trump has falsely said is operating the Panama Canal.

Whatis the Panama Canal?

The Panama Canal is an important waterway that
handles roughly 3% of global seaborne trade. It
revolutionised maritime shipping when it opened in
1914, shortening journeys by removing the need to go
around South Africa’s Cape of Good Hope or through
the Strait of Magellan, a narrow passage on the tip

of South America between the Atlantic and Pacific
Oceans.

Around 75% of the cargo transiting through the
Panama Canal is going to or coming from the US,
making the country by far the biggest beneficiary of
the route.

The canal operates through a series of locks, which
adjust the water level to facilitate the movement of
vessels through the channel, a design that has been
celebrated as an engineering marvel. The most recent
expansion of the canal in 2016 added a third set of
locks and doubled capacity.

Before Trump’s comments added the risk of conflict,
the waterway already was under strain from climate
change. The system of locks relies on fresh water from
Lake Gatun, which plunged to critically low levels
during a drought in 2023 and forced the canal to
increase transit fees and curb how many ships could
pass through for about a year. The artificial lake also is
Panama’s biggest source of drinking water.

What'’s the Panama Canal’s history?

The Isthmus of Panama, a thin strip of land between
the Caribbean Sea and Pacific Ocean, has been a
bustling, globalised trade route since the Spanish
conquest of the Americas in the early 1500s.
Spanish explorer Vasco Nunez de Balboa led the first
European party across the isthmus in 1513. Before

US and China Depend Most on the Panama Canal
Top five countries by long tons of cargo transiting the Panama Canal in 2

M Origin M Destination M Intercoastal

us China Japan
ce: Panama Canal Authority

long, conquistadors were marching south across this
land link and returning with plundered Incan gold and
silver.

King Charles | of Spain commissioned the first
viability study for a canal in 1534 and decided it

was impossible. The earliest significant attempt

to construct a marine route was started in 1881

by France’s Compagnie Universelle du Canal
Interoceanique and was led by Ferdinand de Lesseps,
the builder of the Suez Canal, another key trade
chokepoint in Egypt. More than 20,000 workers
died of diseases, including malaria and yellow fever,
during the nine-year, failed effort.

The US took an interest in the canal project after the
French effort was aborted. In 1903, the US, in exchange
for permanent rights to build and operate the canal,
signed a treaty to guarantee the independence

of Panama from Colombia, from which it had just
seceded. Under this agreement, the US was permitted
to use, occupy and control a 10-mile-wide stretch of
land to build the waterway, for a one-time payment of
$10mn plus an annual annuity of $250,000.

By the 1960s, US control of the waterway was fuelling
resentment in Panama and the larger region. In

1975, Henry Kissinger, then the US secretary of state,
warned of “riots all over Latin America” if the US
didn’t renegotiate the canal treaty. The following
administration of President Jimmy Carter signed the

200 million long tons

South Korea

Bloomberg

Torrijos-Carter Treaties in 1977, which handed control
of the canal and the canal zone to Panama at the end
of 1999.

The canal brought in nearly $5bn in fiscal 2024, or
about 4% of Panama’s gross domestic product.

Why does Trump want to return control
of the Panama Canal to the US?

Trump appears to be both airing his own grievance
about the US losing control of the canal and
pressuring Panama to lower shipping costs. He has
said it was “foolish” for the US to give up the canal in
the first place and has described the current costs to
use the waterway as “ridiculous” and “very unfair.” For
Trump, the canal also plays into the US rivalry with
China. Trump has falsely said the canal is operated by
the Chinese and controlled by the Chinese military.

Are Trump’s complaints justified?

The Panama Canal Authority, which has managed

the canal and overseen expansion projects for two
and a half decades, did increase fees for all operators
regardless of nationality in response to the 2023
drought that forced it to curtail traffic. In late 2023
desperate shippers spent as much as $4mn in auctions
for one of the limited slots across the canal. The cost

of a slot tumbled to around $200,000 by mid-2024,
and a freshwater surcharge was largely eliminated
after lake levels rebounded.

While China has no role in operating the canal, Hong
Kong-based conglomerate CK Hutchison Holdings
Limited has ports on the Atlantic and Pacific sides of
the canal and access to a railway across the isthmus.
China’s growing influence in Latin America through
major infrastructure projects has been a concern to
both Democratic and Republican administrations in
the US.

How has Panamaresponded to the
demands?

President Jose Raul Mulino has affirmed Panama’s
sovereignty over the canal and denied any Chinese
involvement in its operations.

The canal authority’s chief executive officer, Ricaurte
Vasquez, has said that US and Taiwanese companies,
as well as Hutchison, operate ports along the canal.
He also said that a neutrality treaty prevents special
treatment on fees and that any exemptions to
established rules would lead to chaos. However after
a visit to Panama on February 2 by US Secretary of
State Marco Rubio, the canal authority said it would
“optimise transit priority” of US Navy vessels; Mulino
assured Rubio that they would enjoy free passage,
according to a US official.

In another concession to the US, Mulino announced
he would not renew Panama’s participation in the Belt
and Road Initiative, China’s ambitious infrastructure
and trade project that extends the country’s global
reach.

Whatleverage does Trump have?

The US holds significant economic leverage over
Panama as its biggest trade partner and source of
foreign direct investment.

While Trump declined to rule out military intervention,
it's considered unlikely that he will violate
international treaties and unilaterally retake control
of the waterway. Trump has a history of making
outrageous statements to bring attention to a topic
and initiate negotiations.

He also could be looking for leverage to combat
migration to the US. Panama is a key transit route

for migrants from Venezuela, Haiti and Ecuador.

Tom Homan, the border czar in Trump’s second
administration, has said he wants to work with
Panama’s authorities to shut the Darien Gap, a section
of jungle on Panama’s border with Colombia that
migrants hike through on their way to the US.
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US tariff concerns affect sentiments as QSE loses 67 points

By Santhosh V Perumal
Business Reporter

Reflecting the concerns on the US’
tariffs on Canada and Mexico and
its ripple effect on global trade,
the Qatar Stock Exchange (QSE)
yesterday fell below 10,600 levels
intraday but reversed some losses
even as it would up 67 points lower.
Selling pressure, especially in the
industrials and transportation
counters, led the 20-stock Qatar
Index shed 0.63% to 10,632.34
points, but recovering from an
intraday low of 10,582 points.

The foreign funds were seen net
profit takers in the main bourse,
whose capitalisation eroded
QR3.37bn or 0.54% to QR622.78bn
on the back of mid and small cap
segments.

The domestic institutions turned
bearish in the main market, which
saw as many as 6,185 exchange

traded funds (sponsored by Masraf
Al Rayan and Doha Bank) valued

at mere QRO.02mn changed hands
across three deals.

The Gulf retail investors were net
sellers in the main bourse, whose
trade turnover and volumes were
on the increase.

The Islamic index was seen gaining
slower than the other indices of the
main market, which saw no trading
of treasury bills.

The Gulf institutions turned
bearish, albeit at lower levels, in the
main bourse, which saw no trading
of sovereign bonds.

The Total Return Index shed 0.63%,
the All Share Index by 0.54% and
the All Islamic Index by 0.33% in
the main market.

The industrials sector index
tanked 2.07%, transport (1.67%),
insurance (0.52%) and banks and
financial services (0.11%); whereas
consumer goods and services
gained 111% and real estate 1.06%.
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Selling pressure, especially in the industrials and transportation
counters, led the 20-stock Qatar Index shed 0.63% to 10,632.34 points,
but recovering from an intraday low of 10,582 points.

The telecom index was unchanged.
More than 65% of the traded
constituents were in the red with

major losers being Industries
Qatar, Dlala, Qatar Oman
Investment, Inma Holding, Qatar

German Medical Devices, Lesha
Bank, Mekdam Holding, Estithmar

Holding, Mazaya Qatar, Nakilat and

Milaha. Nevertheless, Zad Holding,
Ezdan, Al Faleh Educational

Holding, Barwa and AL Meera were

among the gainers in the main

bourse. In the venture market, both

Al Mahhar Holding and Techno

Q saw their shares appreciate in
value.

The foreign institutions turned net
sellers to the tune of QR21.63mn

against net buyers of QR8.65mn on

February 2.

The domestic institutions were net
sellers to the extent of QR4.18mn
compared with net buyers of
QR11.07mn on Sunday.

The Gulf individual investors
turned net sellers to the tune of
QR1.27mn against net buyers of
QRO.59mn the previous day.

The Arab institutions were net
profit takers to the extent of
QRO.01Tmn compared with no

major net exposure on February 2.
The Arab individual investors’ net
buying weakened perceptibly

to QRO.75mn against QR1.69mn
on Sunday. However, the local
individuals turned net buyers to
the tune of QR22.77mn compared
with net sellers of QR10.83mn the
previous day.

The foreign retail investors

were net buyers to the extent of
QR2.1mn against net profit takers
of QR1.35mn on February 2.

The Gulf institutions turned net
buyers to the tune of QR1.46mn
compared with net sellers of
QR9.82mn on Sunday.

Trade volumes in the main market
soared 57% to 210.37mn shares,
value by 79% to QR526.43mn and
deals by 75% to 16,388.

The venture market saw doubled
trade volumes to 0.26mn equities
and value almost doubled to
QRO0.65mn on more than tripled
transactions to 43.

QSE signs pact with
Argaam Capital to

provide sponsored
research for
listed companies

e Qatar Stock Exchange

I (QSE) has signed a memo-

randum of understanding
(MoU) with Arqaam Capital, a
leading investment bank spe-
cialising in emerging and frontier
markets, as part of its efforts to
enhance market profile and sup-
port listed entities outline their
value proposition effectively to
local and global investors.

This strategic partnership
aims to provide QSE-listed com-
panies access to Arqaam Capi-
tal’s research capabilities and in-
stitutional distribution network,
further enhancing transparency
and investor confidence in the

Qatari capital market.

This collaboration marks
a “significant” step towards
strengthening Qatar’s capital

markets by fostering greater in-
vestor engagement and market
depth. By providing comprehen-
sive, high-quality research cov-
erage, the QSE aims to empower
listed companies with the tools to
communicate their value propo-
sition effectively to a broader
audience. The “Sponsored Re-
search Project” is one of QSE’s
key initiatives aligned with the
third financial sector strategy.
This initiative allows listed com-
Ppanies to gain coverage by repu-
table research firms, facilitating
greater market visibility and in-
formed investment decisions.
Under this MoU, Argaam
Capital will provide independ-
ent, high-quality equity research

Ooredoo launches upgraded Aamali
portfolio to empower enterprises

al-Malki, chief business
officer at Ooredoo Qatar,
said: “Our upgraded Aamali
portfolio represents a
transformative step forward
in our ongoing mission to
empower businesses of

all sizes. With enhanced
plans and the introduction
of Aamali GoConnect,

we are equipping our
customers with the tools

Ooredoo Qatar has
announced significant
upgrades to its popular
Aamali portfolio, designed
to deliver a unified
ecosystem of solutions
that keeps businesses
connected.

These upgrades focus on
key offerings, including
enhanced Aamali Mobile
and Mobile Broadband, as
well as the introduction

of the all-new Aamali
GoConnect — all
empowering customers to
stay productive and ahead
in today’s increasingly
demanding business
environments.

Existing customers

on select plans will
automatically benefit from
these enhancements,
reflecting Ooredoo’s
enduring commitment to
exceptional service.

The upgraded Aamali
Mobile plans now offer

a simplified structure to
suit businesses of all sizes,
from Standard plans with
customisable add-ons to
Advanced and Premium
tiers with unlimited data,
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QSE acting chief executive officer Abdulaziz al-Emadi.

reports on sponsoring QSE-list-
ed companies. These reports will
be made available to institutional
and retail investors, enabling
them to understand better Qa-
tari firms’ financial performance,
growth prospects, and strategic
direction.

“This initiative aligns with our
ongoing commitment to enhance
market profile, transparency and
accessibility for local and inter-
national investors. Sponsored
research will help bridge the in-
formation gap, improve market
efficiency, and attract invest-
ment into Qatar’s capital mar-
kets” QSE acting chief executive
officer Abdulaziz al-Emadi.

This partnership, according to
him, is one of the several strategic
collaborations that the QSE plans
to pursue in supporting the listed
companies and investors further.

“Arqaam Capital’s research

upP

capabilities and extensive distri-
bution reach will provide valu-
able insights to investors and
broaden coverage of QSE-listed
companies in global markets.
Our focus will remain on deliv-
ering independent, data-driven,
and objective research that sup-
ports investment decision-mak-
ing) said Riad Meliti, its chief
executive officer.

Arqaam Capital’s independ-
ent research team will conduct a
thorough, impartial analysis of
covered companies while ensur-
ing that the research conducted
under this programme remains
independent, objective, and free
from influence and aligned with
global best practices.

The QSE shall endeavour to
introduce listed companies to
Arqaam Capital, helping to im-
prove research coverage, investor
disclosure, and relations.

Industry Sector Committee discusses
challenges to business environment
with private sector representatives

QNA
Doha

e Industry Sector Committee
at the Ministry of Commerce
and Industry (MoCI) held a
meeting with representatives of the
private sector to discuss the challenges
facing the business environment in
Qatar.
ssistant Undersecretary for
Agldustry Affairs and Business
evelopment Saleh Majid al-
Khulaifi, who is also the Chairman of
the Industry Sector Committee, pre-
sided over the meeting which brought
together members of the committee
and representatives of Qatar Chamber.

MoCI said in a statement that the
examined proposals made by Industry
people aimed at finding practical solu-
tions that contribute to improving the
business environment and enhancing
industrial growth.

The participants also discussed
ways to enhance co-operation be-
tween the public and private sectors,
which would contribute to overcom-
ing current challenges and achieving

Assistant Undersecretary for Industry Affairs and Business Development
Saleh Majid al-Khulaifi, who is also the chairman of the Industry Sector
Committee, presided over the meeting.

sustainable growth for the industrial
sector.

The Industry Sector Committee at
the Ministry of Commerce and Indus-
try was established in 2024 by a deci-
sion of HE the Minister of Commerce
and Industry, Sheikh Faisal bin Thani
bin Faisal al-Thani. The Committee
is headed by Saleh Majid al-Khulaifi,
with the membership of representa-
tives from the Ministry of Environ-
ment and Climate Change, Qatar Gen-

eral Organisation for Standardisation
and Metrology, QatarEnergy, Qatar
Free Zones Authority, Economic Zones
Company, Qatar Development Bank,
and the Ministry of Commerce and
Industry. The committee is concerned
with holding periodic workshops and
meetings with representatives of the
private sector to discuss the challenges
they face, with the aim of strengthen-
ing the partnership between the public
and private sectors.

US manufacturing rebounds in January

Reuters
Washington

US manufacturing grew for the first
time in more than two years in Janu-
ary, but recovery was likely to be short-
lived after President Donald Trump
imposed tariffs on goods from Canada,
Mexico and China at the weekend,
which will potentially further raise

raw material prices and snarl supply
chains.

The survey from the Institute for
Supply Management (ISM) on Monday;,
which was conducted before the
escalation in trade wars, showed raw
material inventories at factories were
already declining last month, sending

prices rising for the fourth straight
month.

Economists warned of disruptions
to the supply chains, weak economic
growth and higher prices for American
consumers from the tariffs, which the
White House said were to hold the
nation’s three largest trade partners
“accountable to their promises of halt-
ing illegal immigration and stopping
poisonous fentanyl and other drugs
from flowing into our country.” “Tariffs
represent a negative supply shock,
which hurts production and raises
prices, a much smaller scale of what
we experienced in the pandemic,” said
Kathy Bostjancic, chief economist at
Nationwide.

“Another round of tariffs from the US

would amplify the deleterious impact
on inflation and GDP growth.”

The ISM said its manufacturing
PMIl increased to 50.9 last month, the
highest reading since September 2022,
from 49.2 in December.

It was the first time since October
2022 that the PMI rose above the
50 mark, indicating growth in the
manufacturing sector, which accounts
for 10.3% of the economy. Economists
polled by Reuters had forecast the PMI
rising to 49.8.

Trump on Saturday slapped 25%
tariffs on Canadian and Mexican goods
that are due to take effect on Tuesday.
A 10% tariff was imposed on goods
from China. Trump on Monday said he
would pause tariffs on Mexican goods.

HSBC to relocate Qatar head office

to Msheireb Downtown Doha

the country.

'SBC has announced plans to move its Qatar

head office to Msheireb Downtown Doha.
The bank opened its first digitally focused
branch in Msheireb in the Galleria Mall in 2020.
With the move, the bank plans to consolidate its
operations in one of the most sought -after areas in

Engineer Ali Mohammed al-Kuwari, CEO of
Msheireb Properties, said: “This move by HSBC
is a clear indication of the growing importance of
Msheireb Downtown Doha as a top destination
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calls, and Roam Like
Home in 35 countries. The
newly introduced Aamali
Mobile 1500 plan, tailored
for executives, includes
exceptional benefits, such
as two free Multi SIMs with
100GB each and a new
device every 12 months.
For businesses on the
move, the new Aamali
Mobile Broadband plans
deliver reliable Internet
connectivity with options
ranging from 150GB to 5TB.
The new 5TB 5G Extreme
Plus SIM plan is designed
for high-demand users,
providing full-speed data
and Roam Like Home in
35 countries, making it
ideal for industries such as

content creation, remote
education, and e-gaming.
Ooredoo has also launched
Aamali GoConnect, a
revolutionary solution
combining premium eSIM-
enabled devices with global
data plans. Customers can
lease-to-own laptops and
tablets, benefit from up to
400GB of global data, and
receive complimentary
Accidental Damage Support
throughout the agreement
period.

With seamless connectivity
in Ooredoo Passport
partner countries, Aamali
GoConnect ensures
uninterrupted productivity,
no matter where
businesses operate. Thani

and connectivity they need
to thrive in today’s digital-
first marketplace. These
upgrades are a testament
to Ooredoo’s commitment
to providing innovative
and flexible solutions

that meet the evolving
needs of Qatar’s business
community.”

Ooredoo continues to

lead the way in delivering
flexible, future-proof
solutions tailored to the
diverse needs of Qatar’s
enterprises. By empowering
businesses with advanced
connectivity and
productivity tools, Ooredoo
ensures they remain
competitive and poised

for growth in an evolving
global market.

for global businesses. We are proud to provide a
location that caters to the needs of world-class
institutions. “HSBC’s decision to establish its
headquarters in Msheireb Downtown is a strong
endorsement of our vision for a sustainable and
forward-thinking community. The district is not
just a business hub but a place that reflects the fu-
ture of urban development in Qatar?”

Abdul Hakeem Mostafawi, CEO of HSBC Qatar,
said: “Our relocation to Msheireb Downtown Doha,
which is the heart of Qatar’s economic expansion,
is in line with our business objectives and values to
open up a world of opportunity for growth and en-
hancement of the banking experience for our cus-
tomers. Msheireb Downtown Doha offers an ideal
location within a modern, sustainable environment
that supports our business objectives and values.”

Msheireb Downtown Doha continues to estab-
lish itself as a leading business district, attracting
top multinational companies and institutions.

The district’s prime location is complemented
by its state-of-the-art infrastructure and commit -
ment to sustainability. With this move, HSBC will
join a growing list of major organisations setting

Engineer Ali Mohammed al-Kuwari, CEO of
Msheireb Properties, and Abdul Hakeem
Mostafawi, CEO of HSBC Qatar, shaking hands
after the signing ceremony.

up operations in the area. The Qatar International
Media Office recently announced its move to the
downtown, emphasising its increasing prominence
as a global hub for business and media.

Additionally, Qatar Airways revealed plans to
move its global headquarters to Msheireb Down-
town Doha, also in 2025, further cementing the
area’s reputation as a key international destination
for major corporations.

Msheireb Downtown Doha remains at the
forefront of growth in Qatar. With its combina-
tion of strategic location, modern infrastructure,
and sustainable design, the area is poised to be
a major player in shaping the future of Qatar’s
business environment.
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